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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS:

In fiscal year 2004, we continued to take steps to position our Company for
long-term profitable growth. As the result of acquisitions we have made in the past two
years, we have in place an attractlve portfolio of businesses serving diverse segments of
the women’s apparel marketplace from Josephine Chaus in better sportswear to
Cynthia Steffe in upscale, modern women’s clothing to S.L. Danielle in moderate and
private label apparel. Our strategy is focused on managing each of these businesses to
its full potential, and, in doing so, delivering long-term growth and increased value for
our shareholders. |

For fiscal year 2004, we }eported an increase in net revenue of 12.1% to $157.1
million from $140.2 million in| fiscal year 2003 as the result of the contributions of the
S.L. Danielle and Cynthia Steffe product lines. Net income for fiscal 2004 was $3.1
million, or $0.10 per diluted share, compared to $4.7 million, or $0.16 per diluted share,
in fiscal year 2003. The lowe;r net income was attributable to reduced sales of our
Josephine Chaus brand, coupled with higher operating costs, including expenses related
to operating the Cynthia Steffe business acquired in January 2004 and a full twelve
months of expenses associated with operating the S.L. Danielle business acquired in

December 2002. |

The diversification of ou‘: business base over the past two years has marked a
significant evolution in our long-term strategy. Since 1975, when the Company was
founded, we had focused on a} single brand — Chaus — marketed primarily through the
department store channel. However as the apparel marketplace became increasingly
segmented over time, it became clear that the Company and its shareholders would be
best served through expansmn into new markets and distribution channels that would
complement our core Chaus brand, while providing new avenues for growth. The
acquisitions of S.L. Danielle and Cynthia Steffe have been important steps forward in
this regard and each provides strong platforms for the future.

Since acquiring S.L. Damelle, we have expanded this business significantly,
capitalizing on increased demaind within the moderate segment of the apparel market-
place. S.L. Danielle clothing is sold under a number of brand labels and is distributed
through some of the largest [retailers in the country. We continue to differentiate
ourselves through our ability ito combine excellent product quality and design with
outstanding value, and we see §igniﬁcant opportunities to continue to grow this division,
both by expanding our Volume of business with existing customers and attracting new
ones.

The acquisition of Cynthia Steffe has given us entrée into the upscale, modern
women’s clothing market — a growing segment that has performed well in recent years.
The Cynthia Steffe brand has lestablished a strong following among fashion-oriented,
young women, and we look 1orward to building on this solid base through a targeted
growth strategy. The brand is currently carried in upscale department stores, such as
Saks Fifth Avenue and Neiman Marcus, and specialty stores. Our objective is to expand
our presence within existing customer accounts and selectively broaden our distribution,
while maintaining the exclusivity and upscale orientation of the line.




Over the past year, we have moved forward in implementing a series of changes,
including design, merchandising and branding initiatives in the Josephine Chaus line. At
the heart of these changes is a commitment to our customers to make it easier to get
dressed, no matter what the occasion. While we will continue to provide the professional
and polished classics for which we are known, we have introduced greater versatility to
the line in order to better meet our customers’ needs. We recognize that women today
are playing an increasing number of roles successfully, requiring clothing that can take
them from day to night, from the office to the playground and out on the weekends. Our
new presentation, therefore, strikes a balance between casual and professional, while
emphasizing high quality, washability and wearability, all of which are critical to our
target customer. We are particularly excited about our new “Simply Eight” signature
line, a core group of eight clothing essentials within the Josephine Chaus label that can
be coordinated together or worn on their own, providing the consumer with versatility
but also an opportunity to express her own individual style.

Coupled with these design and merchandising initiatives, we have also launched a
new branding campaign. Based on independent research conducted earlier this year, we
are updating and better defining the Josephine Chaus brand, so that it has a clear
identity in the marketplace. The campaign builds on the historic strengths of the line —
including its reputation for high quality clothing at affordable price points — while
injecting a fresh, modern perspective. In addition, Josephine Chaus is now playing a
more visible role in the brand’s definition. As a working mother, Josephine personifies
the busy lifestyle led by our customers, and she is assuming a more public role as the
brand’s principal spokesperson.

During the September Fashion Week in New York, we introduced these changes to
our retail customers. We are encouraged by their initial reception and optimistic that the
changes in the line will provide the necessary catalyst to restore growth at this division
and improve the performance of the Josephine Chaus line that was below our
expectations for fiscal 2004. We believe that as our department store customers continue
to work to differentiate their product selection and take market share, we have a
valuable role to play as a partner and resource offering a compelling merchandise
assortment at a terrific value.

As we look to fiscal 2005, we are excited about the future. We are managing our
three businesses to capitalize on their individual potential, while taking advantage of a
shared infrastructure to maximize operating efficiencies. We will also continue to
evaluate opportunities to further enhance our business mix.




One of our greatest strengths in executing our strategy is our talented team of
employees. We thank each of them for their hard work in fiscal 2004. In addition, we
extend our deepest appreciation to our customers and business partners. To you, our
shareholders, you have our commitment that we will continue to move forward to
enhance the value of your investment. Thank you for your continued support.

| Wb PD.RL,

Josephine Chaus | Nicholas DiPaolo
Chairwoman of the Board, Vice Chairman of the Board,
Chief Executive Officer ! Chief Operating Officer

October 5, 2004 |
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Forward Looking Statements

Certain statements contained herein ére forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that have been made
pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such
statements are indicated by words or phrases such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “project,” “expect,” “believe”
and similar words or phrases. Such s;tatements are based on current expectations and are subject to certain
risks, uncertainties and assumptiony, including, but not limited to, the overall level of consumer spending on
apparel; the financial strength of the }retail industry, generally and the Company’s customers in particular;
changes in trends in the market segments in which the Company competes and the Company’s ability to
gauge and respond to changing c'orﬁsumer demands and fashion trends; the level of demand for the
Company’s products; the Company s dependence on its major department store customers; the success of the
Company’s design, merchandising Z;md branding initiatives for its Josephine Chaus line, the highly
competitive nature of the fashion industry; the Company’s ability to satisfy its cash flow needs by meeting
its business plan and satisfying the financial covenants in its credit facility; and changes in economic or
political conditions in the markets where the Company sells or sources its products, as well as other risks
and uncertainties set forth in the Company’s publicly-filed documents, including the Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Should one or morz of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying
assumptions prove incorrect, actual; results may vary materially from those anticipated, estimated or
projected. The Company disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of neuj) information, future events or otherwise.




FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(Dollars in thousands)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

June 30,
2004 2003 2002

Cash and cash equivalents $ 137 $ 2,650 $ 150
Accounts receivable, net 28,803 19,996 20,586
Inventories, net 8,673 10,696 8,050
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 952 719 1,331

Total current assets 38,565 34,061 30,117
Fixed assets and other assets, net 4,554 4,391 5,574
Trademarks 1,000 —_ —
Goodwill 2,257 1,395 —
Total assets $ 46,376 $ 39,847 $ 35,691
Revolving credit borrowings $ 8,563 $ — $ 3,591
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 11,111 16,346 12,727
Term loan — current 1,700 1,500 1,125

Total current liabilities 21,374 17,846 17,443
Term loan 7,325 7,875 9,375
Long term liabilities 897 1,017 660
Deferred income taxes 81 —_ —
Total liabilities 29,677 26,738 27,478
Total stockholders’ equity 16,699 13,109 8,213
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 46,376 $ 39,847 $ 35,691

Current ratio 1.8 1.9 1.7




FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(Dollars in thousands, excepi éhare and per share amounts)

CONSOLIDA'ITED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
\
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002
Net revenue $§ 157,107 $ 140,225 $ 145,769
Cost of goods sold 117,451 104,398 116,951
Gross profit 39,656 35,827 28818
Selling, general and administrativ: expenses 34,894 29,634 30,130
Income (loss) from operations 4,762 6,193 (1,312)
Other income — —_ (193)
Interest expense, net 1,355 1,091 2,049
Income (loss) before income tax prévision (benefit) 3,407 5,102 (3,168)
Income tax provision (benefit) | 303 425 (944)

Net income (loss) 3104 § 4677 % (2,224)

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.11 § 017 § (0.08)

010 $ 016 $  (0.08)
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Diluted earnings (loss) per share

Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding - basic 1 27,504,000 27,384,000 27,216,000

Weighted average number of common and common
equivalent shares outstanding — dlluted 30,490,000 29,912,000 27,216,000
\

|
|
|
i
\




[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.]




UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

| WASHINGTON, D. C. 20549

f FORM 10-K
[X] ANNUAL REPORT! PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004
or
[ ] TRANSITION REPC RT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECUR ITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transit 19n period from to
Commission file number 1-9169

BERNARD CHAUS, INC.

(Exuct{ name of registrant as specified in its charter)
\
|

New York | 13-2807386
(State or other jurisdiction of‘; (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
incorporation or organization)
|
530 Seventh Avenue, New York, New York 10018
{Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

|
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code
(212) 354-1280

Securities registered pursuant to Sectio‘\n 12(b) of the Act:

|
Title of each class ‘\‘ Name of each exchange on which registered
\

Common Stock, $0.01 par value . None; securities quoted on the Over the Counter Bulletin Board

Securities registered pursuant to Sectiioh 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark whether thl‘e registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13

or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that
the registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past
90 days. Yes X No |

|

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K
(Section 229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s
knowledge, in definitive proxy or m’fc»rmatlon statements incorporated by reference in Part HI of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10 K. | ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act
Rule 12b-2)  Yes No X 1

The aggregate market value of the \votlng stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant on December 31,
2003 was $9,068,000

Indicate the number of shares outst‘anding of each of the registrant’s classes of common stock, as of the
latest practicable date. \
!

Date i Class Shares Outstanding
August 26, 2004 Common Stock, $0.01 par value 27,917,089
‘ Location in Form 10-K in
Documents Incorporated by Reference which incorporated

Portions of registrant’s Proxﬁy Statement for the Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be held November 10, 2004. Part I11
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PART 1 \
|
Item 1. Business. ‘
|
|
\

General

Bernard Chaus, Inc. (the “Company” or “Chaus”™) designs, arranges for the manufacture of and
markets an extensive range of women’s career and casual sportswear principally under the JOSEPHINE
CHAUS® COLLECTION, JOSEPHINE CHAUS® SPORT, CHAUS®, CYNTHIA STEFFE®, CYN-
THIA CYNTHIA STEFFE®, and FRANCES & RITA® trademarks and under private label brand
names. The Company’s products are sold nationwide through department store chains, specialty retailers
and other retail outlets. The Compény has positioned its JOSEPHINE CHAUS product line into the
opening price points of the “better” ‘category In November 2002, the Company acquired certain assets of
S.L. Danielle, Inc. (“SL Danielle”).[SL Danielle designs, arranges for the manufacture of and markets
women’s moderately priced clothing primarily under private labels. In January 2004, the Company
acquired certain assets of the Cynthia Steffe division of LF Brands Marketing, Inc., (“CS Acquisition”)
including inventory and showroom\ fixtures. In connection with such acquisition, the Company also
acquired the Cynthia Steffe trademarks from Cynthia Steffe. The Cynthia Steffe business designs,
arranges for the manufacture of, markets and sells an upscale modern women’s apparel line, under the
Cynthia Steffe trademarks. As used herein, fiscal 2004 refers to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, fiscal
2003 refers to the fiscal year ended J‘une 30, 2003 and fiscal 2002 refers to the fiscal year ended June 30,
2002. ‘

Products ‘\

The Company markets its products as coordinated groups of jackets, skirts, pants, blouses, sweaters
and related accessories principally under the following brand names that also include products for women
and petite sizes: |
Josephine Chaus — a collection of Better tailored career clothing that includes tailored suits, dresses,
jackets, sweaters, skirts and pants.
Chaus - a line of separate items that includes skirts, pants, sweaters and knit tops.

\
Cynthia Steffe and Cynthia Cynthi: Steffe — a collection of upscale modern clothing that includes tailored
suits, dresses, jackets, skirts and pants.

Private Label — the Company also sells private label apparel manufactured according to customers’
specifications. |

The above products, while solc as separates, are coordinated by styles, color schemes and fabrics and
are designed to be merchandised and‘worn together. The Company believes that the target consumers for
its products are women aged 25 to 6§

During fiscal 2004, the suggestéd retail prices of the Company’s Chaus products ranged between
$18.00 and $180.00. The Company’s jackets ranged in price between $98.00 and $180.00, its blouses and
sweaters ranged in price between $30 00 and $120.00, its skirts and pants ranged in price between $38.00
and $110.00, and its knit tops and bottoms ranged in price between $18.00 and $68.00.

During fiscal 2004, the suggestod retail prices of the Company’s Cynthia Steffe products ranged
between $120.00 and $525.00. The Company’s Cynthia Steffe jackets ranged in price between $300.00 and
$525.00, its blouses and sweaters ranged in price between $150.00 and $285.00, its skirts and pants ranged
in price between $120.00 and $330.()Ol and its knit tops and bottoms ranged in price between $150.00 and
$200.00.




The following table sets forth a breakdown by percentage of the Company’s net revenue by class for
fiscal 2002 through fiscal 2004:

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2004 2003 2002
Josephine Chaus and Chaus 67% 83% 97%
Private Labels 28 17 3
Cynthia Steffe and Cynthia Cynthia Steffe _5 — —
Total 100% 100% 100%

Business Segments

The Company operates in one segment, women’s career and casual sportswear. In addition, less than
1% of total revenue is derived from customers outside the United States. The majority of the Company’s
long-lived assets are located in the United States.

Customers

The Company’s products are sold nationwide in an estimated 5,000 stores operated by approximately
650 department store chains, specialty retailers and other retail outlets. The Company does not have any
long-term commitments or contracts with any of its customers.

Through March 31, 2004, the Company extended credit to the majority of its customers through a
factoring agreement with The CIT Group/Commercial Services, Inc. (“CIT”). Under the factoring
arrangement, the Company receives payment from CIT only after CIT has been paid by the Company’s
customers. CIT assumes only the risk of the Company’s customers’ insolvency. All other receivable risks
are retained by the Company, including, but not limited to, allowable customer markdowns, operational
chargebacks, disputes, discounts, and returns. Effective March 31, 2004, the Company, the Company’s SL
Danielle subsidiary and CIT agreed to terminate the Factoring Agreements between them. In connection
with the termination of those Factoring Agreements, the Company’s CS Acquisition subsidiary and CIT
entered into an amendment of their Factoring Agreement revising only the factoring commission.
Receivables related to sales of Cynthia Steffe product lines continue to be factored. At March 31, 2004,
approximately 98% of the Company’s accounts receivable were being serviced by CIT under the factoring
arrangement, Effective April 1, 2004 the Company extends credit to its customers, other than customers
of CS Acquisition, based upon an evaluation of the customer’s financial condition and credit history.

At June 30, 2004, approximately 95% of the Company’s accounts receivable was non factored. At
June 30, 2004 and 2003, approximately 77% and 72% respectively, of the Company’s accounts receivable
were due from customers owned by three single corporate entities. During fiscal 2004, approximately 70%
of the Company’s net revenue was from three corporate entities — Dillard’s Department Stores 35%, TJX
Companies 22%, and Sam’s Club 13%. During fiscal 2003 approximately 73% of the Company’s net
revenue was from three corporate entities — Dillard’s Department Stores 40%, TIX Companies 23% and
May Department Stores 10%. During fiscal 2002 approximately 70% of the Company’s net revenue was
from three corporate entities — Dillards Department Stores 34%, TJX Companies 18% and May
Department Stores 18%. As a result of the Company’s dependence on its major customers, such customers
may have the ability to influence the Company’s business decisions. The loss of or significant decrease in
business from any of its major customers could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
position and results of operations. In addition, the Company’s ability to achieve growth in revenues is
dependent, in part, on its ability to identify new distribution channels.

Sales and Marketing

The Company’s selling operation is highly centralized. Sales to the Company’s department and
specialty store customers are made primarily through the Company’s New York City showrooms. As of
June 30, 2004, the Company had an in-house sales force of 13, all of whom are located in the New York
City showrooms. The Company’s Cynthia Steffe division also employs independent sales representatives
to market its products to specialty stores throughout the country.

2




Products are marketed to department and specialty store customers during “market weeks,”
generally four to five months in advance of each of the Company’s selling seasons. The Company assists
its customers in allocating their purehasing budgets among the items in the various product lines to enable
consumers to view the full range of the Company’s offerings in each collection. During the course of the
retail selling seasons, the Company‘ monitors its product sell-through at retail in order to directly assess

consumer response to its products. |

The Company emphasizes the development of long-term customer relationships by consulting with
its customers concerning the style and coordination of clothing purchased by the store, optimal delivery
schedules, floor presentation, prlcm\g and other merchandising considerations. Frequent communications
between the Company’s senior management and other sales personnel and their counterparts at various
levels in the buying organizations of the Company’s customers is an essential element of the Company’s
marketing and sales efforts. These contacts allow the Company to closely monitor retail sales volume to
maximize sales at acceptable profit margins for both the Company and its customers. The Company’s
marketing efforts attempt to build upon the success of prior selling seasons to encourage existing
customers to devote greater selling space to the Company’s product lines and to penetrate additional
individual stores within the Company’s existing customers. The Company’s largest customers discuss with
the Company retail trends and their plans regarding their anticipated levels of total purchases of
Company products for future seasor‘gs. These discussions are intended to assist the Company in planning
the production and timely delivery of its products.

Design l

The Company’s products and certain of the fabrics from which they are made are designed by an
in-house staff of 23 fashion de51gners The Company believes that its design staff is well regarded for its
distinctive styling and its ability to contemponze fashion classics. Emphasis is placed on the coordination
of outfits and quality of fabrics to encourage the purchase of more than one garment.

Manufacturing and Distribution |

The Company does not own any manufacturing facilities; all of its products are manufactured in
accordance with its design spec1ﬁcat1ons and production schedules through arrangements with indepen-
dent manufacturers. The Company beheves that outsourcing its manufacturing maximizes its flexibility
while avoiding significant capital expendltures work-in-process buildup and the costs of a large
workforce. Approximately 90% of its product is manufactured by independent suppliers located primarily
in South Korea, Hong Kong, Taiwarg, China, Indonesia and elsewhere in the Far East, Less than 5% of
the Company’s products are manufactured in the United States. No contractual obligations exist between
the Company and its manufacturers except on an order-by-order basis. During fiscal 2004, the Company
purchased approximately 77% of its finished goods from its ten largest manufacturers, including
approximately 16% of its purchases from its largest manufacturer. Contracting with foreign manufacturers
enables the Company to take advantage of prevailing lower labor rates and to use a skilled labor force

to produce high quality products. |
\

Generally, each manufacturer agrees to produce finished garments on the basis of purchase orders
from the Company, specifying the price and quantity of items to be produced and supported by a letter
of credit naming the manufacturer as beneficiary to secure payment for the finished garments.

The Company’s technical pmdhction support staff, located in New York City, coordinates the
production of patterns and the production of samples from the patterns by its production staff and by
overseas manufacturers. The production staff also coordinates the marking and the grading of the patterns
in anticipation of production by overseas manufacturers. The overseas manufacturers produce finished
garments in accordance with the prdduction samples and obtain necessary quota allocations and other
requisite customs clearances. Branch offices of the Company’s subsidiaries in Korea and Hong Kong
monitor production at each manuuacturmg facility to control quality, compliance with the Company’s
specifications and timely delivery o finished garments, and arrange for the shipment of finished products
to the Company’s New Jersey dlstrlbutlon center. Approximately 80% of the Company’s finished goods is
shipped to the Company’s New J ersey distribution center for final inspection, assembly into collections,
allocation and shipment to customers. Third party distributors ship the remaining finished goods.

| 3




The Company believes that the number and geographical diversity of. its manufacturing sources
minimize the risk of adverse consequences that would result from termination of its relationship with any
of its larger manufacturers. The Company also believes that it would have the ability to develop, over a
reasonable period of time, adequate alternate manufacturing sources should any of its existing
arrangements terminate. However, should any substantial number of such manufacturers become unable
or unwilling to continue to produce apparel for the Company or to meet their delivery schedules, or if the
Company’s present relationships with such manufacturers were otherwise materially adversely affected,
there can be no assurance that the Company would find alternate manufacturers of finished goods on
satisfactory terms to permit the Company to meet its commitments to its customers on a timely basis. In
such event, the Company’s operations could be materially disrupted, especially over the short-term. The
Company believes that relationships with its major manufacturers are satisfactory.

The Company uses a broad range of fabrics in the production of its clothing, consisting of synthetic
fibers (including polyester and acrylic), natural fibers (including cotton and wool), and blends of natural
and synthetic fibers. The Company does not have any formal, long-term arrangements with any fabric or
other raw material supplier. During fiscal 2004, virtually all of the fabrics used in the Company’s products
manufactured in the Far East were ordered from the Company’s five largest suppliers in the Far East,
which are located in Japan, Taiwan, Hong Kong and Korea. The Company selects the fabrics to be
purchased for production in accordance with the Company’s specifications. To date, the Company has not
experienced any significant difficulty in obtaining fabrics or other raw materials and considers its sources
of supply to be adequate.

The Company operates under substantial time constraints in producing each of its collections. Orders
from the Company’s customers generally precede the related shipping period by up to four months. In
order to make timely delivery of merchandise which reflects current style trends and tastes, the Company
attempts to schedule a substantial portion of its fabric and manufacturing commitments relatively late in
a production cycle. However, in order to secure adequate amounts of quality raw materials, especially
greige (i.e., “undyed”) goods, the Company must make some advance commitments to suppliers of such
goods. Many of these early commitments are made subject to changes in colors, assortments and/or
delivery dates.

Imports and Import Restrictions

The Company’s arrangements with its manufacturers and suppliers are subject to the risks attendant
to doing business abroad, including the availability of quota and other requisite customs clearances, the
imposition of export duties, political and social instability, currency revaluations, and restrictions on the
transfer of funds. Bilateral agreements between exporting countries, including those from which the
Company imports substantially all of its products, and the United States’ imposition of quotas, limits the
amount of certain categories of merchandise, including substantially all categories of merchandise
manufactured for the Company, that may be imported into the United States. Furthermore, the majority
of such agreements contain “consultation clauses” which allow the United States to impose at any time
restraints on the importation of categories of merchandise which, under the terms of the agreements, are
not subject to specified limits. The bilateral agreements through which quotas are imposed have been
negotiated under the framework established by the Arrangement Regarding International Trade in
Textiles, known as the Multifiber Arrangement (“MFA”) which has been in effect since 1974. The United
States has concluded international negotiations known as the “Uruguay Round” in which a variety of
trade matters were reviewed and modified. Quotas established under the MFA will be phased out as of
December 2004, after which the textile and clothing trade will be fully integrated into the General
Agreement on Trade and Tariffs (“GATT”) and will be subject to the same disciplines as other sections.
The GATT agreement provides for expanded trade, improved market access, lower tariffs and improved
safeguard mechanisms. ‘

The United States and the countries in which the Company’s products are manufactured may, from
time to time, impose new quotas, duties, tariffs or other restrictions, or adversely adjust presently
prevailing quotas, duty or tariff levels, with the result that the Company’s operations and its ability to
continue to import products -at current or increased levels could be adversely affected. The Company
cannot predict the likelihood or frequency of any such events occurring. The Company monitors duty,

4
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tariff and quota-related developments, and seeks continually to minimize its potential exposure to
quota-related risks through, among other measures, geographical diversification of its manufacturing
sources, allocation of production of merchandise categories where more quota is available and shifts of
production among countries and m?anufacturers. The expansion in the past few years of the Company’s
varied manufacturing sources and the variety of countries in which it has potential manufacturing
arrangements, although not the rssult of specific import restrictions, have had the result of reducing the
potential adverse effect of any increase in such restrictions. In addition, substantially all of the Company’s
products are subject to United States customs duties. Due to the large portion of the Company’s products,
which are produced abroad, any s“ubstantial disruption of its foreign suppliers could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s operations and financial condition.

|
Backlog |

As of August 26, 2004 and 2003, the Company’s order book reflected unfilled customer orders for
approximately $48.3 million and Si59.2 million of merchandise, respectively. Order book data at any date
are materially affected by the timing of the initial showing of collections to the trade, as well as by the
timing of recording of orders and ‘\of shipments. The order book represents customer orders prior to
discounts. Accordingly, a comparison of unfilled orders from period to period is not necessarily
meaningful and may not be indica tlye of eventual actual shipments. Although a portion of the decline in
backlog at August 26, 2004 is attx 1butable to a decline in orders from department stores, the decline is

primarily attributable to the tlmmg‘ of recording of orders and of shipping of orders.
Trademarks i

|
CHAUS, CHAUS & CO., CHAUS SPORT, CHAUS WOMAN, MS. CHAUS, JOSEPHINE,
JOSEPHINE CHAUS, CYNTHIA}STEFFE, CYNTHIA CYNTHIA STEFFE and FRANCES & RITA
are registered trademarks of the Company for use on ladies’ garments. The Company considers its
trademarks to be strong and hxghly recognized, and to have significant value in the marketing of its
products.

The Company has also reglstered its CHAUS, CHAUS SPORT, CHAUS WOMAN, JOSEPHINE
CHAUS and JOSEPHINE trademarks for women’s apparel in certain foreign countries. JOSEPHINE
CHAUS for clothing, accessories and cosmetics is a registered trademark in the European Economic
Community.

|
Competition l‘

The women’s apparel industry is highly competitive, both within the United States and abroad. The
Company competes with many ap parel companies, some of which are larger, and have better established
brand names and greater resources’ than the Company. In some cases the Company also competes with
private-label brands of its departnént store customers.

The Company believes that an ability to effectively anticipate, gauge and respond to changing
consumer demand and taste relatlvely far in advance, as well as an ability to operate within substantial
production and delivery constralxlt§ (including obtaining necessary quota allocations), is necessary to
compete successfully in the women’s apparel industry. Consumer and customer acceptance and support,
which depend primarily upon styling, pricing, quality (both in material and production), and product
identity, are also important aspects of competition in this industry. The Company believes that its success

will depend upon its ability to remain competitive in these areas.
|

Furthermore, the Company’s 1rafditional department store customers, which account for a substantial
portion of the Company’s business, encounter intense competition from off-price and discount retailers,
mass merchandisers and specialty stores. The Company believes that its ability to increase its present
levels of sales will depend on such' customers’ ability to maintain their competitive position and the

Company’s ability to increase its ma\jrket share of sales to department stores and other retailers.
{

At June 30, 2004, the Compan y employed 282 employees as compared with 260 employees at June 30,
2003. This total includes 58 in managenal and administrative positions, approximately 83 in design,
|

Employees
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production and production administration, 23 in marketing, merchandising and sales and 67 in
distribution. Of the Company’s total employees, 51 were located in the Far East. The Company is a party
to a collective bargaining agreement with the Amalgamated Workers Union, Local 88, covering 70
full-time employees. This agreement expires August 31, 2005.

The Company considers its relations with its employees to be satisfactory and has not experienced
any business interruptions as a result of labor disagreements with its employees.

Executive Officers

The executive officers of the Company are:

Name Age Position

Josephine Chaus 53 Chairwoman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Nicholas DiPaolo 63 Vice Chairman of the Board and Chief Operating Officer
Barton Heminover 50 Chief Financial Officer

Executive officers serve at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

Josephine Chaus is a co founder of the Company and has held various positions with the Company
since its inception. She has been a director of the Company since 1977, President from 1980 through
February 1993, Chief Executive Officer from July 1991 through September 1994 and again since
December 1998, Chairwoman of the Board since 1991 and member of the Office of the Chairman since
September 1994.

Nicholas DiPaolo was appointed Vice Chairman of the Board and Chief Operating Officer in
November 2000 and has been a director of the Company since February 1999. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. DiPaolo served as a consultant to the apparel industry and as a private investor. From 1991
through May 1997, Mr. DiPaolo served as Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Salant
Corporation, a diversified apparel company which he joined in 1988 as President and Chief Operating
Officer. Prior to 1988, he held executive positions with a number of apparel and related companies,
including Manhattan Industries, a menswear company, and The Villager, a women’s sportswear company.
Mr. DiPaolo currently serves as a director of JPS Industries Inc., a publicly traded manufacturer of
specialty extruded and woven materials, and Foot Locker, Inc., a publicly traded athletic footwear and
apparel retailer.

Barton Heminover was appointed Chief Financial Officer in August 2002 and served as Vice
President of Finance from January 2000 through August 2002 and as Vice President - Corporate
Controller from July 1996 to January 2000. From January 1983 to July 1996 he was employed by Petrie
Retail, Inc. (formerly Petrie Stores Corporation), a woman’s retail apparel chain, serving as Vice
President/Treasurer from 1986 to 1994 and as Vice President/Financial Controller from 1994 to 1996.

Forward Looking Statements

Certain statements contained herein are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section
27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that have been
made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such
statements are indicated by words or phrases such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “project,” “expect,”
“believe” and similar words or phrases. Such statements are based on current expectations and are subject
to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including, but not limited to, the overall level of consumer
spending on apparel; the financial strength of the retail industry, generally and the Company’s customers
in particular; changes in trends in the market segments in which the Company competes and the
Company’s ability to gauge and respond to changing consumer demands and fashion trends; the level of
demand for the Company’s products; the Companys dependence on its major department store
customers; the highly competitive nature of the fashion industry; the Company’s ability to satisfy its cash
flow needs by meeting its business plan and satisfying the financial covenants in its credit facility; and
changes in economic or political conditions in the markets where the Company sells or sources its
products, as well as other risks and uncertainties set forth in the Company’s publicly-filed documents,

RIS »
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including this Annual Report c»ng Form 10-K. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties
materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from
those anticipated, estimated or pr ojected The Company disclaims any intention or obligation to update
or revise any forward-looking st atements whether as a result of new information, future events or

otherwise. \
|

Item 2. Properties. |

The Company’s principal exea‘;tive office is located at 530 Seventh Avenue in New York City where
the Company leases approximately' 28,000 square feet. This lease expires in May 2009. This facility also
houses the Company’s Chaus and SL Danielle showrooms and its sales, design, production and

merchandising staffs. Net base re ntal expense for the executive offices aggregated approximately $0.9
million i in each of fiscal 2004, fiscal 42003 and fiscal 2002.

The Company’s Cynthia Stefie sub51d1ary is located at 550 Seventh Avenue in New York City where
the Company leases approximately 12 000 square feet. This lease expires in October 2013 and the net base
rental expense is approximately $O% million per year.

The Company’s technical production support facility (including its sample and patternmakers) is
located at 519 Eighth Avenue in Ne:w York City where the Company leases approximately 15,000 square
feet. This lease expires in August 2009. Net base rental expense for the technical production support
facilities aggregated approximately $0.3 million in each of fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003, and fiscal 2002.

The Company’s distribution ‘enter is located in Secaucus, New Jersey where the Company leases
approximately 276,000 square feet. 'This facility also houses the Company’s administrative and finance
personnel its computer operations, iand its one retail outlet store. This space is occupied under a lease
expiring December 31, 2005. Base rental expense for the Secaucus facility aggregated approximately $1.2

million in each of fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002.

Office locations are also lease d 'in Hong Kong and Korea, with annual aggregate rental expense of
approximately $0.1 million for each| of fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003, and fiscal 2002.
|
Item 3. Legal Proceedings. |

The Company is involved in l(:gial proceedings from time to time arising out of the ordinary conduct
of its business. The Company believes that the outcome of these proceedings will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s ﬂn“ancial condition or results of operations.
|
i

ltem 4. Submission of Matters to a ‘]Vote of Security Holders.
!

None. 1

L

|

PART II “
!

lItem S. Market for the Registrant’s ?Equi(y and Related Stockholder Matters.
The Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Common Stock™), is currently traded

in the over the counter market and| quotatlons are available on the Over the Counter Bulletin Board
(OTC BB: CHBD).




The following table sets forth for each of the Company’s fiscal periods indicated the high and low bid
prices for the Common Stock as reported on the OTC BB. These prices refiect inter-dealer prices, without
retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2004

Fiscal 2005

High
First Quarter ..........covviiniiinen... $0.77
Second Quarter..............cvnn. 0.85
Third Quarter ...............ccovvn.. 0.92
Fourth Quarter ...................... 0.93
FirstQuarter .......covvininnnn. $1.65
Second Quarter............ ...t 1.42
Third Quarter ............ccovuvu... 1.26
Fourth Quarter ...................... 0.97
July 01- August 26,2004 .............. $1.05

Low

$0.45
0.52
0.55
0.77

$0.92
0.85
0.85
0.84

$0.86

As of August 26, 2004, the Company had approximately 442 stockholders of record.

The Company has not declared or paid cash dividends or made other distributions on the Common
Stock since prior to its 1986 initial public offering. The payment of dividends, if any, in the future is within
the discretion of the Board of Directors and will depend on the Company’s earnings, capital requirements
and financial condition. It is the present intention of the Board of Directors to retain all earnings, if any,
for use in the Company’s business operations and, accordingly, the Board of Directors does not expect to
declare or pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, the Company’s Financing Agreement
prohibits the Company from declaring dividends or making other distributions on its capital stock,
without the consent of the lender. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations — Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources.”




Item 6. Selected Financial Data.'

|
|

The following financial infc-rr!nation is qualified by reference to, and should be read in conjunction
with, the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and the notes thereto, as well as
Management’s Discussion and Analysm of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained

elsewhere herein.

Statement of Operations Data:

|
|
Net revenue ‘\
Cost of goods sold }
Gross profit !
Selling, general and administrative expense‘,
Other income
Interest expense, net i
Income (loss) before income tax provxsmn‘
(benefit) ‘
Income tax provision (benefit) |

Net income (loss) ‘
Basic earnings (loss) per share (1)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (2)

Weighted average number of common shares

outstanding — basic |
Weighted average number of common and‘
common equivalent shares outstanding; —
diluted

|
|
|
i
|

Balance Sheet Data

\
|
Working capital
Total assets

|
Short-term debt, including current porticn ¢ bf
long-term debt |

|

1

Long-term debt
Stockholders’ equity

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(In theusands, except per share amounts)
$157,107 $140,225 $145,769 $149.499 $181,538
117,451 104,398 116,951 122,324 142,909
39,656 35,827 28,818 27,175 38,629
34,894 29,634 30,130 32,606 36,075
— — (193) — —
1,355 1,091 2,049 2,121 2,358
3,407 5,102 (3,168) (7,612) 196
_ 303 425 (944) 11 4
$ 3104 $ 4677 $ (2,224) $ (7,623) $ 192
§ 011 § 017 $ (0.08) $§ (0.28) § 001
$ 010 $ 016 $ (0.08) $ (0.28) $ 001
27,504 27,384 27,216 27,216 27,174
30,490 29,912 27,216 27,216 27,183
As of June 30,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
$ 17,191 $ 15,653 $ 12,404 $ 15,185 $ 23,801
46,376 39,847 35,691 44,795 49,045
10,263 1,500 4,716 6,024 1,000
7,325 7,875 9,375 10,500 11,500
16,699 13,109 8,213 10,679 18,302

(1) Computed by dividing the apphcaJle net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock

outstanding during the year.

(2) Computed by dividing the applicable ﬁet income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and
common stock equivalents outstanding during the year.




Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Overview

The Company has expanded its product mix over the last two years mainly through its acquisition of
S.L. Danielle and Cynthia Steffe. In November 2002, the Company acquired certain assets of S.L.
Danielle Inc. S.L. Danielle designs, arranges for the manufacture of , markets and sells a women’s apparel
line, principally under private and exclusive labels. In January 2004 the Company purchased certain assets
of the Cynthia Steffe, a division of LF Brands Marketing, Inc., including inventory and intellectual
property. In connection with the acquisition, the Company also acquired Cynthia Steffe trademarks from
Cynthia Steffe. The Cynthia Steffe business designs, arranges for the manufacture of, markets and sells
an upscale modern women apparel line, under the Cynthia Steffe trademarks. The results of Cynthia
Steffe’s operations are included in the consolidated financial statements commencing January 2, 2004.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the years indicated, certain items expressed as a percentage of net
revenue.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2004 2003 2062
NEt TEVENUE. « . oottt ettt et et ie e ae e 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Gross Profit . .. ...voeine e e e 252 255 19.8
Selling, general and administrative expenses................... 222 211 20.7
Interest XPense vt 0.9 0.8 14
Net income (losS) . . ..ot e e 1.9 33 (1.5)

Fiscal 2004 Compared to Fiscal 2003

Net revenues for fiscal 2004 increased 12.1% or $16.9 million to $157.1 million as compared to $140.2
million for fiscal 2003. Units sold increased by 11.7% and the overall price per unit remained relatively the
same. The increase in net revenue was primarily due to the inclusion of a full twelve months of sales for
the Company’s S.L. Danielle division acquired in November 2002 and the sales of the Company’s Cynthia
Steffe product lines acquired in January 2004. These acquisitions contributed $31.0 million to the increase
in fiscal 2004 revenues. This increase was partially offset by a decrease of $14.0 million in sales of other
product lines to department stores and discount stores. See table of percentage of net revenue by class on
page 2 for additional information.

Gross profit for fiscal 2004 increased $3.9 million to $39.7 million as compared to $35.8 million for
fiscal 2003. As a percentage of sales, gross profit decreased to 25.2% for fiscal 2004 from 25.5% for fiscal
2003. The increase in gross profit dollars was attributable to the gross profit of the Company’s S.L.
Danielle and Cynthia Steffe divisions. The increase in gross profit dollars from these divisions more than
offset a decrease in gross profit dollars associated with the Company’s Chaus product lines sold to
department stores. The decrease in gross profit percentage was primarily due to the lower gross profit
percentage associated with the Company’s Chaus product lines.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses increased by $5.2 million to $34.9 million for
fiscal 2004 as compared to $29.6 million in fiscal 2003. As a percentage of net revenue, SG& A expenses
increased to 22.2% in fiscal 2004 as compared to 21.1% in fiscal 2003. These increases were primarily
attributable to the Cynthia Steffe product lines acquired in January 2004 and the inclusion of a full twelve
months of expenses of the S.L. Danielle product lines acquired in November 2002. The increase in SG& A
expenses was primarily due to SG& A expenses related to payroll and payroll related costs ($1.9 million),
design related costs ($0.8 million), and marketing and advertising costs ($0.7 million). The increase in
SG&A expense as a percentage of net revenue was due to the decrease in sales volume of the Company’s
Chaus product lines sold to department stores which reduced the Company’s leverage on SG& A expenses
in addition to the higher SG& A expenses as a percentage of net revenue associated with the Cynthia
Steffe product lines.
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Interest expense increased by ‘approximately $0.3 million to $1.4 million for fiscal 2004 as compared

to $1.1 million for fiscal 2003. The i increase was due to higher bank borrowings partially offset by lower
interest rates. \

The provision for income taxefs for fiscal 2004 reflects a provision for certain federal, state and local
taxes. For fiscal 2004, the Company’s income tax provision includes federal alternative minimum taxes
(AMT) that are not offset by the Companys net operating loss (NOL) carryforward from prior years.
New Jersey enacted new tax legrs latron in fiscal 2003 temporarily suspending the use of net operatmg loss
(NOL) carryforwards against income. Accordingly, for fiscal 2004, the Company has made provisions for
state income taxes, including New Jersey

The Company periodically rev1‘ews its historical and projected taxable income and considers available
information and evidence to determine if it is more likely than not that a portion of the deferred tax assets
will be realized. A valuation allowance is established to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amount that
is more likely than not to be realized. As of June 30, 2004 and 2003, based upon its evaluation of taxable
income and the current business environment, the Company recorded a full valuation allowance on its
deferred tax assets including NOL’s 5. In fiscal 2004, the valuation allowance was reduced by $2.5 million
to $42.8 million at June 30, 2004 1rom $45.3 million at June 30, 2003 to reflect the utilization of NOL’s to
offset taxes otherwise payable on current taxable income. If the Company determines that a portion of
the deferred tax assets will be realized in the future, a portion of the valuation allowance will be reduced
and the Company will provide forl income tax expense (benefit) in its Statement of Operations at its
estimated effective tax rate. See discussion below under Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
regarding income taxes and the C o{mpany s federal net operating loss carryforward.

Fiscal 2003 Compared to Fiscal 2002

Net revenue for fiscal 2003 decreased 3.8% or $5.6 million to $140.2 million as compared to $145.8
million for fiscal 2002. The decrease in net revenue was primarily due to lower net revenue for the Chaus
product lines partially offset by prlv‘ate label merchandise sales resulting from S.L. Danielle product lines
acquired in December 2002. ;

Gross profit for fiscal 2003 in creased $7.0 million to $35.8 million as compared to $28.8 million for
fiscal 2002. As a percentage of safes‘ gross profit increased to 25.5% for fiscal 2003 from 19.8% for fiscal
2002. The increase in gross profit dollars and gross profit percentage was primarily due to an increase in
the overall markup, lower sales discounts and better inventory management for the Chaus product lines.

S.L. Danielle sales also contributedi to the increase in gross profit dollars.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses decreased by $0.5 million to $29.6 million for
fiscal 2003 as compared to $30.1 million for fiscal 2002. As a percentage of net revenue, SG&A expenses
increased to 21.1% in fiscal 2003 as compared to 20.7% in fiscal 2002. The decrease in SG& A expenses was
primarily due to decreases in payroll and payroll related expenses ($1.0 million), marketing and
advertising expenses ($0.4 million), provision for bad debts ($0.3 million) and professional fees
($0.2 million) associated with the Company’s Chaus product lines. These decreases were partially offset
by increases in overhead of approximately $1.5 million related to the addition of the S.L. Danielle product
lines in December of 2002. The increase in SG&A expense as a percentage of net revenue was due to a
decrease in sales volume, which rzduced the Company’s leverage on SG&A expenses.

Interest expense decreased by $1 0 million for fiscal 2003 as compared to fiscal 2002. The decrease

was due to lower revolving credit b‘orrowmgs and interest rates.
The provision for income tax:zsfor fiscal 2003 reflects a provision for certain federal, state and local

taxes. For fiscal 2003, the Company’s income tax provision includes federal alternative minimum taxes
(AMT) that are not offset by the Company’s net operating loss (NOL) carryforward from prior years.
New Jersey enacted new tax legislation temporarily suspending the use of net operating loss (NOL)
carryforwards against income. Accordingly, for fiscal 2003, the Company has made provisions for
additional state income taxes, including New Jersey. The income tax benefit for fiscal 2002 of $0.9 million
includes a benefit of $0.2 million Jor refund claims due to tax law changes and a benefit of $0.7 million
related to the elimination of tax lrablhtles that were no longer required, offset by a provision for state and
local taxes of $30,000. See discussion below under Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates regarding
income taxes and the Company’s federal net operating loss carryforward.
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Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

Net cash used in operating activities was $7.1 million for fiscal 2004 as compared to net cash provided
by operating activities of $12.2 million for fiscal 2003, and net cash provided by operating activities of $3.2
million for fiscal 2002. Net cash used in operating activities for fiscal 2004 resulted primarily from a
decrease in accounts payable ($4.8 million), an increase in accounts receivable ($9.0 million) partially
offset by a decrease in inventory ($2.6 million), and net income ($3.1million). Net cash provided by
operating activities for fiscal 2003 resulted primarily from net income ($4.7 million), an increase in
accounts payable ($3.0 million), a decrease in accounts receivable ($1.7 million).

Cash used in investing activities was $3.9 million in fiscal 2004 compared to $5.0 million in fiscal 2003
and $0.8 million in fiscal 2002. The investing activities in fiscal 2004 consisted of $3.0 million primarily for
the acquisition of Cynthia Steffe product lines and $1.0 million for the purchase of fixed assets. In fiscal
2003 investing activities consisted of $4.7 million for the acquisition of the S.L. Danielle product lines and
$0.3 million for the purchase of fixed assets. In fiscal 2002 investing activities consisted of $0.4 million for
the purchase of fixed assets and $0.4 million for the purchase of in-store shops. The purchases of fixed
assets for all years presented consisted primarily of purchases of computer hardware and software
systems. In fiscal 2005, the Company anticipates capital expenditures of approximately $0.8 million
consisting primarily of Management Information System upgrades.

Cash provided by financing activities for fiscal 2004 resulted from net borrowings of $8.6 million for
short-term bank borrowings and $0.3 million from net proceeds from the issuance of stock offset by net
principal payments of $0.4 million on the term loan. Cash used in financing activities for fiscal 2003
resulted from net repayments of $3.6 million for short-term bank borrowings and net principal payments
of $1.1 million on term loans. Cash used in financing activities for fiscal 2002 resulted from net repayments
of $1.4 million for short-term bank borrowings and principal payments of $1.0 million on the term loan.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table summarizes as of June 30, 2004, the Company’s contractual obligations and
commercial commitments by future period:

Payments due by Period
(in thousands)

Contractual obligations (in thousands) Total Less than 1 year 2-3 years 4-5 years After S years
Operating leases . ............. $11,128 $ 3,085 $ 3,789 $2.862 $1,392

Inventory purchase
commitments Letters of

Credits ..........coovvenn. 7,812 7,812 — — —
Inventory purchase

commitments .. .............. 10,692 10,692 — — —
Revolving credit borrowings. . . . 8,563 8,563 — — —
Current portion of term loan ... 1,700 1,700 — — —
Long-term borrowings......... 7,325 — 7,325 — —

Total contractual obligations

and commercial
commitments . .............. $47.220 $31,852 $11,114 $2,862 $1,392

Financing Agreement

On September 27, 2002, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a new three-year
financing agreement (the “Financing Agreement”) with The CIT Group/Commercial Services, Inc.
(“CIT”), to replace the Former Financing Agreement discussed below. The Financing Agreement
provides the Company with a $50.5 million facility comprised of (i) a $40 million revolving line of credit
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(the “Revolving Facility”) with| a $25 million sublimit for letters of credit, a $3 million seasonal

overadvance and certain other overadvances at the discretion of CIT, and (ii) a $10.5 million term loan
(the “Term Loan”). |

At the option of the Com;pe{ny, the Revolving Facility and the Term Loan each may bear interest
either at the JP Morgan Chase Bank Rate (“Prime Rate”) or the London Interbank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR?”). If the Company chdoses the Prime Rate, the interest (i) on the Revolving Facility accrues
at a rate of % of 1% above the P nme Rate (ii) on the Term Loan accrues at a rate of 1% above the Prime
Rate. If the Company chooses LIBOR the interest (i) on the Revolving Facility accrues at a rate of 3% %
above LIBOR (ii) on the Term LLoan accrues at a rate of 3%% above Libor. From the inception of the
financing agreement through Junej 30, 2004, the Company has elected the Prime Rate option. The interest
rate as of June 30, 2004 on the Revolving Facility was 4.50% and on the Term Loan was 5.00%.

On September 27, 2002, the: Company borrowed $18.3 million under the Revolving Facility and $10.5
million under the Term Loan. These borrowings were used to pay off the balances under the Former
Financing Agreement of $18.3 million and the Former Term Loan of $10.5 million and for working capital
purposes. Commencing October 1 2002, amortization payments in the amount of $375,000 (increased to
$425,000 by the J anuary 2004 amendment to the Financing Agreement described below) are payable
quarterly in arrears in connection with the Term Loan. A balloon payment of $6.9 million is due on
September 27, 2005 under the Term Loan. The Company’s obligations under the Financing Agreement
are secured by a first priority lu,n on substantially all of the Company’s assets, including the Company’s
accounts receivable, inventory, lntanglbles equipment, and trademarks, and a pledge of the Company’s
equity interest in its sub51dnarle>

The Financing Agreement contains numerous financial and operational covenants, including
limitations on additional indebt edness liens, dividends, stock repurchases and capital expenditures. In
addition, the Company is required to maintain (i) specified levels of tangible net worth, (ii) certain fixed
charge coverage ratios, (iii) certém leverage ratios, and (iv) specified levels of minimum borrowing
availability under the Revolving Facxhty At June 30, 2004, the Company was in compliance with all of its
covenants. In the event of the early termination by the Company of the Financing Agreement, the
Financing Agreement provides that the Company will be liable for termination fees of (i) $350,000 if
termination occurs between the: thirteenth and the twenty-fourth month from the closing date or, (ii)
$150,000 if termination occurs after the twenty-fourth month from the closing date. The Company may
prepay at any time, in whole or ia part, the Term Loan without penalty. The Financing Agreement expires
on September 27, 2005. A fee of $125,000 was paid in connection with the new Financing Agreement.

‘On November 27, 2002, the Company and CIT agreed to an amendment to the Financing Agreement
in order to facilitate the S.L. Dani“elle acquisition discussed below. The Company and CIT agreed to add
the Company’s newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary, S.L. Danielle Acquisition, LLC (the “Additional
Borrower”), as a co-borrower under the Financing Agreement and related Factoring Agreement.
Accordingly, the Company and CIT (i) amended the Financing Agreement pursuant to a joinder
agreement, which also constitutejs Amendment No. 1 to the Financing Agreement (the “Amended
Financing Agreement”) and (ii) entered into a new factoring agreement with the Additional Borrower,
to add the Additional Borrowear, as a co-borrower. The Company’s and the Additional Borrower’s
obligations under the Amended Financing Agreement are secured by a first priority lien on substantially
all of the Company’s and the Acdditional Borrower’ assets, including the Company’s and the Additional
Borrower’s accounts receivable, idventory, intangibles, equipment, and trademarks and a pledge of the
Company’s stock interest and membershlp interest in the Company’s subsidiaries, including the
Additional Borrower. j

On January 30, 2004, the Company and CIT agreed to an amendment to the Financing Agreement
in order to facilitate the Cynthia Steffe acquisition discussed below. The Company and CIT agreed to add
the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Cynthia Steffe Acquisition, LLC (“CS Acquisition”) as a
co-borrower under the Financing Agreement and related Factoring Agreement. Accordingly, the
Company and CIT (i) amended the Financing Agreement pursuant to a joinder agreement, which also
constitutes Amendment No. 2 to the Financing Agreement (the “Second Amended Financing Agree-
ment”) and (ii) entered into a new factoring agreement with CS Acquisition, to add CS Acquisition as a
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co-borrower. The obligations of the Company, S.L. Danielle and CS Acquisition under the Second
Amended Financing Agreement are secured by a first priority lien on substantially all of the assets of the
Company, S.L. Danielle and CS Acquisition, including their respective accounts receivables, inventory,
intangibles, equipment, and trademarks and a pledge of the Company’s stock interest and membership
interest in the Company’s subsidiaries. The Second Amended Financing Agreement also provided, among
other things for (i) an increase in the amount of the Term Loan by $1.2 million to cover a portion of the
purchase price of the Cynthia Steffe assets which had initially been paid for through revolving credit
borrowings under the Revolving Facility; (i) an increase in the quarterly amortization payments on the
Term Loan from $375,000 to $425,000; and (iii) the amendment of certain financial covenants for fiscal
2004 (including the fixed charge coverage ratio and the minimum borrowing availability covenants) to
provide for the Cynthia Steffe operations and to be consistent with the Company’s latest business plan for
fiscal 2004.

On September 15, 2004 the Company and CIT agreed to further amend the Financing Agreement to
modify the financial covenants to be consistent with the Company’s latest business plan for fiscal 2005.

On June 30, 2004, the Company had $8.0 million of outstanding letters of credit under the Revolving
Facility, total availability of approximately $11.6 million under the Amended Financing Agreement, a
balance of $9.0 million on the Term Loan and $8.6 million in revolving credit borrowings. At June 30,
2003, the Company had $11.6 million of outstanding letters of credit, total availability of approximately
$10.7 million, a balance of $9.4 million on the Term Loan and no revolving credit borrowings.

Factoring Agreement

On September 27, 2002 the Company also entered into a factoring agreement with CIT (the
“Factoring Agreement”). The Factoring Agreement provided for a factoring commission equal to 4/10 of
1% of the gross face amount of all accounts factored by CIT, plus certain customary charges. The
minimum factoring commission fee per year was $500,000. The Factoring Agreement provided that it
would be terminated after eighteen months if there were no events of default under the Factoring
Agreement at such time. Once terminated, the Company is required to pay to CIT a collateral
management fee equal to $5,000 a month.

Effective March 31, 2004, the Company, S.L. Danielle and CIT agreed to terminate the Factoring
Agreements between them. Pursuant to the terms of the original agreement, the Company is now
obligated to pay to CIT a collateral management fee of $5,000 a month. Receivables related to sales of
Cynthia Steffe product lines continue to be factored. In connection with the termination of those
Factoring Agreements, CS Acquisition and CIT entered into an amendment of their Factoring
Agreement which provides for a factoring commission equal to 6/10 of 1% of the gross face amount of all
accounts factored by CIT up to $10 million ratably declining to a commission between .55% and .45% of
the gross amount of the receivables in excess of $10 million. The amended Factoring agreement between
CS Acquisition and CIT has a term of twelve months.

Prior Financing Agreement

Until September 27, 2002, the Company had a financing agreement with BNY Financial Corporation,
a wholly owned subsidiary of General Motors Acceptance Corp. (“GMAC”) (the “Former Financing
Agreement”). The Former Financing Agreement consisted of two facilities: (i) the Former Revolving
Facility which was a $45.5 million five-year revolving credit line (subject to an asset based borrowing
formula) with a $34.0 million sublimit for letters of credit, and (ii) the Former Term Loan which was a
$14.5 million term loan facility. Each facility had been amended to extend the maturity date until April 1,
2003.

Interest on the Former Revolving Facility accrued at the greater of (i) 6% or (ii) ¥ of 1% above the
Prime Rate (6.0% at June 30, 2002) and was payable on a monthly basis, in arrears. Interest on the Former
Term Loan accrued at an interest rate equal to the greater of (i) 6.0% or (ii) a rate ranging from % of 1%
above the Prime Rate to 1%4% above the Prime Rate, which interest rate was determined, from time to
time, based upon the Company’s availability under the Revolving Facility. The interest rate on the Former
Term Loan was 6.0% at June 30, 2002.
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Future Financing Requzreme11t§

At June 30, 2004, the Company had working capital of $17.2 million as compared with working
capital of $15.7 million at June 30,2003. The Company’s business plan requires the availability of sufficient
cash flow and borrowing capa‘,ity to finance its product lines. The Company expects to satisfy such
requirements through cash flow from operations and borrowings under its financing agreements. The
Company believes that it has adequate resources to meet its needs for the foreseeable future assuming

that it meets its business plan and satisfies the covenants set forth in the Financing Agreement.
[

The foregoing discussion contains forward-looking statements which are based upon current
expectations and involve a number of uncertainties, including the Company’s ability to maintain its
borrowing capabilities under the 'Financing Agreement, retail market conditions, and consumer accep-
tance of the Company’s products:

i
|
Acquisitions \
\
|

S.L. Danielle Acquisition

On November 27, 2002, S.L. Damelle Acquisition, LLC (“S.L. Danielle”), a newly formed subsidiary
of the Company acquired certain assets of S.L. Danielle Inc. The results of S.L. Danielle’s operations have
been included in the consolidated| financial statements since that date. S.L. Danielle designs, arranges for
the manufacture of, markets and sells a women’s apparel line, principally under private labels.

The aggregate purchase prlce; was approximately $5.1 million, including cash of $4.4 million, 100,000
shares of common stock of the Company (“Common Stock”) valued at $84,000, and stock options to
purchase 500,000 shares of Cornmon Stock valued at $384,000 and transaction costs of approximately
$250,000. The acquisition was funded by CIT through revolving credit borrowings of $4.6 million. The
value of the 100,000 shares of Common Stock was determined based on the average market price of the
Common Stock over the 3-day period before and after the date of the acquisition. The 500,000 stock
options were granted at the fair market value on the date of the acquisition and were valued using the
Black Scholes option pricing model. The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired

and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.

i At November 27, 2002
| (In thousands)

Current assets. ................ ‘ ...................................... $3,609
Property, plant, and equipment. .L............ oo i 36
Intangible assets.............. . L 90
Goodwill ........cooiiiii e 1,437

Total assets acquired......... S $5,172

Cynthia Steffe Acquisition

On January 2, 2004, Cynthia Steffe Acquisition, LLC (“CS Acquisition”), a newly formed subsidiary
of the Company acquired certaln‘ assets of the Cynthia Steffe division of LF Brands Marketing, Inc.,
including inventory and showro m fixtures. The Company also acquired the Cynthia Steffe trademarks
from Cynthia Steffe for consideration equal to $1.0 million under a separate agreement. The Cynthia
Steffe business designs, arranges for the manufacture of, markets and sells a women’s apparel line, under
the Cynthia Steffe trademarks. As a result of the acquisition, the Company expects to increase its sales
volume through the sale of Cynrhia Steffe product lines. The results of Cynthia Steffe’s operations have
been included in the consolidated financial statements commencing January 2, 2004. The aggregate
purchase price was approximate. yw$2 2 million, plus the payment of $0.5 million in satisfaction of certain
liabilities, plus transaction fees and related acquisition costs of $0.2 million. The acquisition was initially
funded out of borrowings under the Revolving Facility of which $1.2 million was subsequently rolled into
the Term Loan. ‘
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The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired at the date of acquisition.

At January 2, 2004
(in thousands)

IIVEOLOTY . . . ettt ettt et et et e e $ 578
Property, plant, and eqUIpment. . . ...ttt e 458
Intangible assets. ... .oovitiii i e 1,062
Goodwill . ... e e 820

Total assets acquired. .. ...t eeni i e $2,918
Current liabilities. .. ... e (457)

Net assets acquired . ... ...ttt e $2,461

Intangible assets include i) $1.0 million related to the Cynthia Steffe trademark, which was
determined to be an indefinite lived intangible asset and thus not subject to amortization, and ii) $62,000
related to the sales order backlog which was amortized over the sales period of four months.

The following unaudited pro forma information presents financial information of the Company as
though the acquisitions had been completed as of the beginning of the periods set forth below.

For the Year Ended

June 30, June 30,
2004 2003
(Unaudited)

(In thousands except per share amounts)
Net 1eVenUE. . ..o ve it e $162,796 $158,344
NEtINCOME « ittt ettt ettt e e 3,232 4,350
Basic income pershare ................... ... .. $ 012 $ 016
Diluted income pershare ....................... $ omn $ 015

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements except for inventory purchase
orders and letters of credit under the Financing Agreement. See “—Financing Agreement”.

Inflation

The Company does not believe that the relatively moderate rates of inflation which recently have
been experienced in the United States, where it competes, have had a significant effect on its net revenue
or profitability.

Seasonality of Business and Fashion Risk

The Company’s principal products are organized into seasonal lines for resale at the retail level
during the Spring, Summer, Fall and Holiday Seasons. Typically, the Company’s products are designed as
much as one year in advance and manufactured approximately one season in advance of the related retail
selling season. Accordingly, the success of the Company’s products is often dependent on the ability to
successfully anticipate the needs of retail customers and the tastes of the ultimate consumer up to a year
prior to the relevant selling season.

Historically, the Company’s sales and operating results fluctuate by quarter, with the greatest sales
occurring in the Company’s first and third fiscal quarters. It is in these quarters that the Company’s Fall
and Spring product lines, which traditionally have had the highest volume of net sales, are shipped to
customers, with revenues recognized at the time of shipment. As a result, the Company experiences
significant variability in its quarterly results and working capital requirements. Moreover, delays in
shipping can cause revenues to be recognized in a later quarter, resulting in further variability in such
quarterly results.

Foreign Operations

The Company’s foreign sourcing operations are subject to various risks of doing business abroad and
any substantial disruption of its relationships with its foreign suppliers could adversely affect the
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Company’s operations. Any mate rlal increase in duty levels, material decrease in quota levels or material
decrease in available quota allocat1on could adversely affect the Company’s operations. Approximately
90% of the products sold by the Cpmpany in fiscal 2004 were manufactured in Asia.

Critical Accounting Policies and E“stimates

The Company’s significant ac:cé;unting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to the consolidated

financial statements. Certain of the Company’s accounting policies require the application of significant
judgment by management in selecting the appropriate assumptions for calculating financial estimates. By
their nature, these judgments are sUbject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. These judgments are based
on historical experience, observatlon of trends in the industry, information provided by customers and
information available from other out51de sources, as appropriate. Significant accounting policies include:

\
Revenue Recognition — The Company recognizes sales upon shipment of products to customers since

title and risk of loss passes upon shipment. Provisions for estimated uncollectible accounts, discounts and
returns and allowances are provided when sales are recorded based upon historical experience and
current trends. While such amounts have been within expectations and the provisions established, the

Company cannot guarantee that it iwill continue to experience the same rates as in the past.

Accounts Receivable - Accoujnts Receivable are net of allowances and anticipated discounts. An
allowance for doubtful accounts is determined through analysis of the aging of accounts receivable at the
date of the financial statements, assessments of collectibility based on historic trends and an evaluation of
the impact of economic conditions. This amount is not significant primarily due to the Company’s history
of minimal bad debts and the factoring agreement. An allowance for discounts is based on those discounts
relating to open invoices where trade discounts have been extended to customers. Costs associated with
potential returns of products as w:ll as allowable customer markdowns and operational charge backs, net
of expected recoveries, are included as a reduction to net revenue and are part of the provision for
allowances included in Accounts Receivable. These provisions result from seasonal negotiations as well
as historic deduction trends, net ei‘pected recoveries and the evaluation of current market conditions.
Account Receivable reserves were $1.2 million and $0.9 million at June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

\

Inventories — Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market, cost being determined on the first-in,
first-out method. Reserves for slow moving and aged merchandise are provided based on historical
experience and current product de: mand Inventory reserves were $0.8 million and $0.7 million at June 30,
2004 and 2003, respectively. The increase in inventory reserves was due to an increase in slow moving and
aged merchandise as compared to last year. Inventory reserves are based upon the level of excess and
aged inventory and the Company’s estimated recoveries on the sale of the inventory. While markdowns
have been within expectations and the provisions established, the Company cannot guarantee that it will
continue to experience the same level of markdowns as in the past.

Valuation of Long-Lived As:;e?s and Goodwill — The Company periodically reviews the carrying
value of its long-lived assets for continued appropriateness. This review is based upon projections of
anticipated future undiscounted cash flows. While the Company believes that its estimates of future cash
flows are reasonable, different assumptlons regarding such cash flows could materially affect evaluations.
The Company evaluates goodwill ‘Nl}enever events and changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable from its estimated future cash flows. To the extent these future
projections or the Company’s strategles change, the conclusion regarding impairment may differ from the
current estimates. |

Income Taxes — The Compan;y’é results of operations have generated a federal tax net operating loss
(“NOL”) carryforward of approximately $93 million as of June 30, 2004. Generally accepted accounting
principles require that the Compary record a valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset associated
with this NOL if it is “more likely than not” that the Company will not be able to utilize it to offset future
taxes. As of June 30, 2004, based vpon its evaluation of the Company’s historical and projected results of
operations, the current business environment and the magnitude of the NOL, the Company recorded a
full valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets including NOL’s. The provision for income taxes
primarily relates to federal alternative minimum taxes (AMT) and state and local taxes. It is possible,
however, that the Company could be profitable in the future at levels which cause management to

1
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conclude that it is more likely than not that the Company will realize all or a portion of the NOL
carryforward. Upon reaching such a conclusion, the Company would record the estimated net realizable
value of the deferred tax asset at that time and would then provide for income taxes at a rate equal to its
combined federal and state effective rates. Subsequent revisions to the estimated net realizable value of
the deferred tax asset could cause the Company’s provision for income taxes to vary from period to
period, although its cash tax payments would remain unaffected until the benefit of the NOL is utilized.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Interest Rate Risk — The Company is subject to market risk from exposure to changes in interest
rates based primarily on its financing activities. The market risk inherent in the financial instruments
represents the potential loss in earnings or cash flows arising from adverse changes in interest rates. These
debt obligations with interest rates tied to the prime rate are described in “Liquidity and Capital
Resources”, as well as Note 6 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company
manages these exposures through regular operating and financing activities. The Company has not
entered into any derivative financial instruments for hedging or other purposes. The following
quantitative disclosures are based on the prevailing prime rate. These quantitative disclosures do not
represent the maximum possible loss or any expected loss that may occur, since actual results may differ
from these estimates.

At June 30, 2004 and 2003, the carrying amounts of the Company’s revolving credit borrowings and
term loan approximated fair value. As of June 30, 2004, the Company’s revolving credit borrowings bore
interest at 4.5% and the term loan bore interest at 5.0%. As of June 30, 2004, a hypothetical immediate
10% adverse change in prime interest rates relating to the Company’s revolving credit borrowings and
term loan would have a $0.1 million unfavorable impact on its earnings and cash flows over a one-year
period.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are included herein commencing on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports filed or submitted by it under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and
forms, and include controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed
by the Company in such reports is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management,
including the Company’s Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer and the Company’s Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Each fiscal quarter the Company carries out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the
participation of the Company’s management, including Company’s Chairwoman and Chief Executive
Officer along with the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation
of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15. Based upon
the foregoing, the Company’s Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer along with the Company’s Chief
Financial Officer, concluded that, as of June 30, 2004, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures
are effective in timely alerting them to material information relating to the Company (including its
consolidated subsidiaries) required to be included in the Company’s Exchange Act reports.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, there has been no change in the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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Item 9B. Other Information i

None
|
PART III }

Item 10. Directors and Executi vei Officers of the Registrant.

Information with respect to the executive officers of the Company is set forth in Part I of this Annual

Report on Form 10-K. ]

Information with respect to fthe directors of the Company is incorporated by reference to the
information to be set forth under the heading “Election of Directors” in the Company’s definitive proxy
statement relating to its 2004 An nual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A (the
“2004 Proxy Statement”). |
\
Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Information called for by Itein 11 is incorporated by reference to the information to be set forth

under the heading “Executive Compensation” in the Company’s 2004 Proxy Statement.
|

Item 12. Security Ownership of‘dertain Beneficial Owners and Management,

Information called for by Iteim 12 is incorporated by reference to the information to be set forth
under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in the
Company’s 2004 Proxy Statement‘

Information with respect tc secuntles authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans is
incorporated by reference to the information to be set forth under the heading “Compensation Program
Components” in the Company’s 2004 Proxy Statement.

|
|
Item 13. Certain Relationships aizd Related Transactions.

Information called for by I ep 13 is incorporated by reference to the information to be set forth

under the headings “Executive C ompensatlon and “Certain Transactions” in the Company’s 2004 Proxy

Statement. 1

|
i

Item 14. Principal Accounting ,Fe\;es and Services.

Information called for by It em 14 is incorporated by reference to the information to be set forth
under the headings “Report of the Audit Committee” and “Auditors” in the Company’s 2004 Proxy
Statement. . ‘

PART IV |
|

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K.

1
(a) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule: See List of Financial Statements and
Financial Statement Schedule on page F-1.

(b) The Company did not file any reports on form 8-K during the last quarter of its fiscal year ended
June 30, 2004. ‘
(c) Exhibits

\
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the “Restated Certificate”) of the Company (incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
Registration No. 33- 59)4 (the “1986 Registration Statement”)).

\
32 Amendment dated November 18, 1987 to the Restated Certificate (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.11 of the Corapany’s Registration Statement on Form S-2, Registration No. 33-63317
(the “1995 Registratior: Statement”)).
|
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33

34

35

3.6

$10.77

10.81

10.82

10.84

10.87

10.90

10.91

10.100

10.101

10.102

10.103

10.104

Amendment dated November 15, 1995 to the Restated Certificate (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.12 of Amendment No. 1 to the 1995 Registration Statement).

Amendment dated December 9, 1998 to the Restated Certificate (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.13 of the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 1998 (the “1998 Form
10-K”)).

By-Laws of the Company, as amended (incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1 of the
Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 1987).

Amendment dated September 13, 1994 to the By-Laws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.105 of the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1994).

1998 Stock Option Plan, as amended by Amendment No.1 thereto including form of related
stock option agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A and Exhibit B of the
Company’s Proxy Statement filed with the Commission on October 17, 2000).

Collective Bargaining Agreement between the Company and Amalgamated Workers Union,
Local 8 effective as of September 24, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.81 of the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 1999 (the 1999 Form 10-K”)).

Lease between the Company and Adler Realty Company, dated June 1, 1999 with respect to the
Company’s executive offices and showroom at 530 Seventh Avenue, New York City (incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit 10.82 of the 1999 Form 10-K).

Lease between the Company and Kaufman Eighth Avenue Associates, dated September 11,
1999 with respect to the Company’s technical support facilities at 519 Eighth Avenue, New York
City (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.84 of the Company’s Form 10-K for the year
ended June 30, 2000 (the “2000 Form 10-K”)).

Employment Agreement dated January 10, 2001 between the Company and Nicholas DiPaolo
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.87 of the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
December 31, 2000).

Lease modification agreement between the Company and Hartz Mountain Industries, Inc.,
dated August 30, 1999 with respect to the Company’s distribution and office facilities in
Secaucus, NJ. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.90 of the Company’s Form 10-K for the
year ended June 30, 2001 (the “2001 Form 10-K”)).

Employment Agreement dated June 1, 2001 between the Company and Gregory Mongno.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.91 of the 2001 Form 10-K).

Financing Agreement between the Company and CIT/Commercial Services, Inc., as Agent,
dated September 27, 2002. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.100 of the 2002 Form 10-K).

Factoring Agreement between the Company and CIT/Commercial Services, Inc., dated
September 27, 2002. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.101 of the 2002 Form 10-K).

Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Financing Agreement by and among the Company, S.L.
Danielle and The CIT Group/Commercial Services, Inc., as agent, dated November 27, 2002.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.102 of the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
December 31, 2002).

Amendment No. 1 to Factoring Agreement between the Company and The CIT Group/
Commercial Services, Inc., dated November 27, 2002. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.103 of the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2002).

Factoring Agreement between S.L. Danielle and The CIT Group/Commercial Services, Inc.,
dated November 27, 2002. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.104 of the Company’s Form
10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2002).
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|
|

Asset Purchase Agrecment between S.L. Danielle and S.L. Danielle, Inc., dated November 27,
2002. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.105 of the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended December 31, 2002)

|

Joinder and Amendraent No. 2 to Financing Agreement by and among the Company, S.L.
Danielle, Cynthia Steffe Acquisition, LLC and The CIT Group/Commercial Services, Inc., as
agent, dated January 30 2004. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.106 of the Company s
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2003).

Amendment No. 2 to \i\Factoring Agreement between the Company and The CIT Group/
Commercial Services, Inc., dated January 30, 2004. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.107
of the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2003).

\

Amendment No. 1 to Factoring Agreement between S.L. Danielle and The CIT Group/
Commercial Services, Inc dated January 30, 2004. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.108
of the Company’s Formw 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2003).

Factoring Agreement between Cynthia Steffe Acquisition, LLC and The CIT Group/
Commercial Services, Inc., dated January 15, 2004. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.109
of the Company’s Forml; 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2003).

Amendment to Employ\;ment Agreement between the Company and Gregory Mongo, dated
October 15, 2003. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.110 of the Company’s Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended December 31, 2003).

Amendment to Emplc»yment Agreement between Nicholas DiPaolo and Bernard Chaus, Inc.,
effective as of Decemben 1,2003. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.111 of the Company’s
Form 10-Q for the qudrt‘er ended March 31, 2004).

Notice of Defactoring an‘qong Bernard Chaus, Inc., S.L. Danielle Acquisition, LLC and the CIT
Group/Commercial Services, Inc., dated March 31, 2004. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.112 of the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004).

Amendment No. 1 to Fa“ctoring Agreement between Cynthia Steffe Acquisition LLC and the
CIT Group/Commercial Services, Inc., dated Aprill, 2004. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.113 of the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004).

|
Amendment No. 3 to F mancing Agreement among the Company, S.L. Danielle, Cynthia Steffe
Acquisition, LLC and 1he CIT Group/Commercial Services, Inc. as agent, dated September 15,
2004. i

List of Subsidiaries of -thf\e Company.
Consent of Deloitte & Tnuche LLP.

|
Certification Pursuant 10 Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Josephine Chaus.

Certification Pursuant to §ecti0n 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Barton Heminover.

Certification Pursuant 10,18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Josephine Chaus.

Certification Pursuant 10/18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Barton Heminover.

|
|

|
i Management agreement or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit.

* Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

BERNARD CHAUS, INC.

By: /s/ Josephine Chaus
Josephine Chaus
Chairwoman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Date: September 27, 2004

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE

/s/ Josephine Chaus Chairwoman of the Board and Chief September 23, 2004
Josephine Chaus Executive Officer

/s/ Nicholas DiPaolo Vice Chairman of the Board and September 23, 2004
Nicholas DiPaolo Chief Operating Officer

fs/ Barton Heminover Chief Financial Officer September 23, 2004
Barton Heminover

/s/ Philip G. Barach Director September 23, 2004
Philip G. Barach

/s/ S. Lee Kling Director | September 23, 2004
S. Lee Kling

/s/ Harvey M. Krueger Director September 23, 2004

Harvey M. Krueger
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BERNARD CHAUS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

INDEX TO FINANCIA,Li STATEMENTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

The following consolidated ‘ﬁnanc1al statements of Bernard Chaus, Inc. and subsidiaries are included
in Item 8&: ‘

Report of Independent Regisr: ered Public Accounting Firm .......................... ... F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets — - June 30,2004 and 2003 .. ... oo F-3
Consolidated Statements of C'peratlons — Years Ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002...... F-4
Consolidated Statements of Siockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss) —

Years Ended June 30, 2004, 2;003 and 2002 ... F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Years Ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002. . .. .. F-6

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements............ ... oo, F-7

. \
The following consolidated fnanc1a1 statement schedule of Bernard Chaus, Inc. and subsidiaries is
included in Item 15: |

{
i

Schedule II — Valuation and Q“ualifying ACCOUNTS .« v e ei ittt e S-1

4
The other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulation of the

Securities and Exchange Commission are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable
and, therefore, have been omﬂtied.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Bernard Chaus, Inc.
New York, New York

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Bernard Chaus, Inc. and subsidiaries
as of June 30, 2004 and June 30, 2003 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2004. Our audits also
included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at item 15. These financial statements and
financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Bernard Chaus, Inc. and subsidiaries at June 30, 2004 and June 30, 2003, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2004 in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

r,Ddone. § “Towche LULP

Parsippany, New Jersey
September 28, 2004
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BERNARD CHAUS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(C(?NSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except number of shares and per share amounts)

i June 30, June 30,
! 2004 2003
Assets w
Current Assets 3
Cash and cash equivalents ‘ $ 137 $ 2,650
Accounts receivable — net 28,803 19,996
Inventories — net ‘ 8,673 10,696
Prepaid expenses and other (u‘rrent assets 952 719
Total current assets ! 38,565 34,061
Fixed assets - net ‘ 4,212 3,792
Other assets — net \‘ 342 599
Trademarks 1 1,000 —
Goodwill l 2257 1,395
Total assets ‘ $ 46,376 $ 39,847
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equlty
Current Liabilities i
Revolving credit borrowings } $ 8563 $ —
Accounts payable | 7,913 12,747
Accrued expenses ‘ 3,198 3,599
Term loan - current } 1,700 1,500
Total current liabilities \ 21,374 - 17,846
Term loan | 7,325 7,875
Long term liabilities | 897 1,017
Deferred income taxes ‘} 81 —
Total liabilities } 29,677 26,738
Commitments and Contingencies :(Notes 6, 9, and 12)
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, authorxzed shares - 1,000,000; — —
outstanding shares — none ‘
Common stock, $.01 par value, authorized shares - 50,000,000; 280 274
issued shares - 27,979,359 at June 30, 2004 and 27,384,358 at

June 30, 2003

Additional paid-in capital l 126,234 125,943
Deficit \‘ (108,030) (111,134)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (305) (494)
Less: Treasury stock at cost — 62 ,270 shares at June 30, 2004 and 2003 (1,480) (1,480)
Total stockholders’ equity | 16,699 13,109
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 46,376 $ 39,847

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BERNARD CHAUS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except number of shares and per share amounts)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2004 2003 2002

Net revenue $ 157,107 $ 140,225 $ 145769
Cost of goods sold 117,451 104,398 116,951
Gross profit 39,656 35,827 28,818
Selling, general and administrative expenses 34,894 29,634 30,130
Income (loss) from operations 4,762 6,193 (1,312)
Other income — — (193)
Interest expense, net 1,355 1,091 2,049
Income (loss) before income tax provision (benefit) 3,407 5,102 (3,168)
Income tax provision (benefit) 303 425 (944)
Net income (loss) $ 3,104 $ 4,677 $ (2,224)
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.11 $ 0.17 $ (0.08)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.10 $ 0.16 $ (0.08)
Weighted average number of common shares .

outstanding — basic 27,504,000 27,384,000 27,216,000
Weighted average number of common and common

equivalent shares outstanding — diluted 30,490,000 29,912,000 27,216,000

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F4




|
’
BERNARD CHAUS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(IP thousands, except number of shares)
|

__Common Stock Treasury Stock
‘ Accumulated
} Additional - Other
Number Paid-in Number Comprehensive
of Shares Amount _ Capital (Deficit) of Shares Amount Loss Total
Balance at July 1, 2001 27,278;,258 $273 $125,473 (8§ 113,587) 62,270 ($ 1,480) — $10,679
Minimum pension liability ‘
adjustment b— — — — — — (242) (242)
Net loss \ — — — (2,224) — — — (2,224)
Comprehensive loss . | {2,466)
|
Balance at June 30, 2002 27,278,258 273 125,473 (115811) 62,270 (1,480) (242) 8213
\
Issuance of common stock upon \
exercise of stock options 6,100 — 3 — — — — 3
Common stock and stock options |
issued for acquisition ]OQ,OOO 1 467 — — — — 468
Minimum pension liability i
adjustment i — — — - — — (252) (252)
Net income | — —_ — 4,677 — — — 4,677
Comprehensive income ! 4,425
|
Balance at June 30, 2003 27,384,358 274 125,943 (111,134) 62,270 (1,480) (494) 13,109
Issuance of common stock upon ;
exercise of stock options 595001 6 291 — — — — 297
Minimum pension liability 1
adjustment | — — — — — — 189 189
Net income | — — — 3,104 — — — 3,104
Comprehensive income L 3,293
Balance at June 30, 2004 37_,279,‘359 $280 $126,234 ($ 108,030) 62,270  ($ 1,480) (8 305) $16,699

See accompadnying notes to consolidated financial statements
i
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BERNARD CHAUS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002

Operating Activities
Net income (loss) $ 3,104 $ 4,677 $(2,224)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided

by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 1,273 1,580 1,608
Loss on disposal of other assets — 244 —
Provision for losses on accounts receivable 180 (260) 75
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (8,987) 2,268 3,027
Inventories 2,601 (455) 5,532
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (176) 405 (360)
Accounts payable (4,834) 2,998 (3,767)
Accrued expenses and long term liabilities (251) 726 (680)
Net Cash (Used In) Provided By Operating Activities (7,090) 12,183 3,211
Investing Activities
Acquisition of business (2,960) (4,662) —
Purchases of fixed assets (973) (308) (392)
Purchases of other assets — — (419)
Net Cash Used In Investing Activities (3,933) (4,970) (811)
Financing Activities
Net borrowings (repayments) of short-term bank borrowings 8,563 (3,591) (1,433)
Principal payments on term loans (1,550) (11,625) (1,000)
Borrowings on term loans 1,200 10,500 —
Net proceeds from issuance of stock 297 3 —
Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Financing Activities 8,510 (4713) (2,433
(Decrease) Increasé in Cash and Cash Equivalents (2,513) 2,500 (33)
Cash, Beginning of Year 2,650 150 183
Cash, End of Year $ 137 $ 2,650 $ 150
Cash paid for:
Taxes $ 283 $ 313 $ 23
Interest $ 1222 $§ 964 $ 1,767

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-6




BEENARD CHAUS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES Tq CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2004, 2003 AND 2002

i
|

1. Business }

Bernard Chaus, Inc. (the “Company’ or “Chaus”) designs, arranges for the manufacture of and
markets an extensive range of women’s career and casual sportswear principally under the JOSEPHINE
CHAUS® COLLECTION, JOSEPHINE CHAUS® SPORT, CHAUS®, and CYNTHIA STEFFE®
trademarks and under private label brand names. The Company’s products are sold nationwide through
department store chains, specialty retailers and other retail outlets. The Company has positioned its
JOSEPHINE CHAUS product. line into the opening price points of the “better” category. In December
2002, the Company acquired certain assets of S.L. Danielle Inc. (“SL Danielle”). SL Danielle designs,
arranges for the manufacture of and markets women’s moderately priced private label clothing. In
January 2004, the Company acquired certain assets of the Cynthia Steffe division of LF Brands
Marketing, Inc. (“Cynthia Steffe’). Cynthia Steffe designs, arranges for the manufacture of, markets and
sells an upscale modern women’s“ apparel line, under the Cynthia Steffe trademarks.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation: }
|

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

|
Use of Estimates: ‘
\

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

|
Revenue Recognition: !

The Company recognizes r«:v\‘enue upon shipment of products to customers since title and risk of loss
passes upon shipment. Provisions for estimated uncollectible accounts, discounts and returns and
allowances are provided when >ales are recorded based upon historical experience and current trends.
While such amounts have been w1th1n expectations and the provisions established, the Company cannot
guarantee that it will continue to experience the same rates as in the past. Design revenue is recognized
when designs are manufactured and shipped.

Credit Terms: (
|

Through March 31, 2004, thd Company extended credit to the majority of its customers through a
factoring agreement with The CIT Group/Commercial Services, Inc. (“CIT”). Under the factoring
arrangement, the Company receives payment from CIT only after CIT has been paid by the Company’s
customers. CIT assumes only the I‘lSk of the Company’s customers’ insolvency. All other receivable risks
are retained by the Company, in cludlng, but not limited to, allowable customer markdowns, operational
chargebacks, disputes, discounts, and returns. Effective March 31, 2004, the Company, the Company’s SL
Danielle subsidiary and CIT agre ed to terminate the Factoring Agreements between them. In connection
with the termination of those Factormg Agreements, the Company’s Cynthia Steffe Acquisition
subsndlary and CIT entered into an amendment of their Factoring Agreement revising only the factoring
commission. Receivables related to sales of Cynthia Steffe product lines continue to be factored. At
March 31, 2004, approximately ‘98% of the Company’s accounts receivable were being serviced by CIT
under the factoring arrangement. Effective April 1, 2004 the Company extends credit to its customers,
other than customers of CS Acquisition based upon an evaluation of the customer’s financial condition
and credit history. |

| F-7




At June 30, 2004, approximately 95% of the Company’s accounts receivable was non factored. At
June 30, 2004 and 2003, approximately 77 % and 72 % respectively, of the Company’s accounts receivable
were due from customers owned by three single corporate entities. During fiscal 2004, approximately 70%
of the Company’s net revenue was from three corporate entities — Dillard’s Department Stores 35%, TJX
Companies 22%, and Sam’s Club 13%. During fiscal 2003 approximately 73% of the Company’s net
revenue was from three corporate entities — Dillard’s Department Stores 40%, TIX Companies 23% and
May Department Stores 10%. During fiscal 2002 approximately 70% of the Company’s net revenue was
from three corporate entities — Dillards Department Stores 34%, TJX Companies 18% and May
Department Stores 18%. As a result of the Company’s dependence on its major customers, such customers
may have the ability to influence the Company’s business decisions. The loss of or significant decrease in
business from any of its major customers could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
position and results of operations. In addition, the Company’s ability to achieve growth in revenues is
dependent, in part, on its ability to identify new distribution channels.

Accounts Receivable:

Accounts Receivable are net of allowances and anticipated discounts. An allowance for doubtful
accounts is determined through analysis of the aging of accounts receivable at the date of the financial
statements, assessments of collectibility based on historic trends and an evaluation of the impact of
economic conditions. This amount is not significant primarily due to the Company’s history of minimal
bad debts and the factoring agreement. An allowance for discounts is based on those discounts relating
to open invoices where trade discounts have been extended to customers. Costs associated with potential
returns of products as well as allowable customer markdowns and operational charge backs, net of
expected recoveries, are included as a reduction to net revenue and are part of the provision for
allowances included in Accounts Receivable. These provisions result from seasonal negotiations as well
as historic deduction trends, net expected recoveries and the evaluation of current market conditions. As
of June 30, 2004 and June 30, 2003, Accounts Receivable was net of allowances of $1.2 million and $0.9
million, respectively.

Inventories:

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, cost being determined on the first-in, first-out
method. Reserves for slow moving and aged merchandise are provided based on historical experience and
current product demand. Inventory reserves were $0.8 million at June 30, 2004, and $0.7 million at June
30, 2003. Inventory reserves are based upon the level of excess and aged inventory and the Company’s
estimated recoveries on the sale of the inventory. While markdowns have been within expectations and
the provisions established, the Company cannot guarantee that it will continue to experience the same
level of markdowns as in the past.

Cost of goods sold:

Cost of goods sold includes the costs incurred to acquire and produce inventory for sale, including
product costs, freight-in, duty costs, commission cost and provisions for inventory losses.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: H

All highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase
are classified as cash equivalents.

Goodwill and Trademarks

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in business
combinations accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. Trademarks relate to the Cynthia
Steffe trademarks and were determined to have an indefinite life. Pursuant to the provisions of SFAS
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” the Company does not amortize assets with indefinite
lives and conducts impairment testing annually in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, or sooner if
circumstances require. No amortization expense related to goodwill and trademarks has been recorded
for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2004, 2003, and 2002.
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Long-Lived Assets |

. | . . . . .
The Company reviews certain long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In that regard, the Company
assesses the recoverability of such assets based upon estimated non-discounted cash flow forecasts. As of
June 30, 2004, no impairments of long-lived assets have been recognized.

Income Taxes: |

The Company accounts for mcome taxes under the asset and liability method in accordance with
~ Statement of Financial Accounti mg Standards (“SFAS”) No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred
income taxes reflect the futur: tax consequences of differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their financial reporting amounts at year-end. The Company periodically reviews its
historical and projected taxable income and considers available information and evidence to determine if
it is more likely than not that a pbrtion of the deferred tax assets will be realized. A valuation allowance
is established to reduce the def: =rred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.
As of June 30, 2004 and 2003, b.xsed upon its evaluation, the Company recorded a full valuation allowance
on its deferred tax assets. See Note 5. If the Company determines that a portion of the deferred tax assets
will be realized in the future, a portion of the valuation allowance will be reduced and the Company will
provide for income tax expense (benefit) in its Statement of Operations at its estimated effective tax rate.

Stock-based Compensation: |

1
i

The Company has a Stock: Option Plan and accounts for the plan under the recognition and
measurement principles of APB 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, and related
interpretations. Under this methdd compensation cost is the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of
the stock at the grant date or other measurement date over the amount an employee must pay to acquire
the stock. No stock-based employee compensatlon cost is reflected in the statement of operations, as
options granted under the plan had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common
stock on the date of grant. Ha“d compensation costs for the Company’s stock option grants been
determined based on the fair value at the grant dates for awards under these plans in accordance with
SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share would have been reduced
to the pro forma amounts as follows (Dollars in thousands, except share data):

|
For the Year Ended

|
i June 30, June 30, June 30,
! 2004 2003 2002
Net income (loss), as reported 1 $3,104  $4,677 $(2,224)
|
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method, net of tax
effects \ (300) (549) (900)

Proforma net income (loss) ‘ $2,804 $4,128 $(3,124)

Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic-as reported $ 0.11 $ 017 $ (0.08)

$010 $015 $ (0.12)

Basic-proforma

Diluted-as reported $ 0.10 $ 016 § (0.08)

|
|
1
|
|
Diluted-proforma ] $ 0.09 $ 0.14 $ (0.12)
i
|
l
|
\
|




The following assumptions were used in the Black Scholes option pricing model that was utilized to
determine stock-based employee compensation expense under the fair value based method:

For the Year For the Year  For the Year

Ended Ended Ended
June 30, 2004 June 30, 2003  June 30, 2002
Weighted average fair value of stock options granted $0.84 $0.74 $0.42
Risk-free interest rate 4.24% 3.92% 3.36%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected life of options 10.0 years 5.5 years 2.5 years
Expected volatility 87% 188% 181%

Earnings Per Share:

Basic earnings (loss) per share has been computed by dividing the applicable net income (loss) by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share has been computed
for the years end June 30, 2004 and 2003 by dividing the applicable net income by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding and common share equivalents. Potentially dilutive shares of
651,357 were not included in the calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended June 30, 2002, as
their inclusion would have been antidilutive.

For the Year Ended

June 30, June 30, June 30,

Denominator for earnings (loss) per share (in millions): 2004 2003 2002
Denominator for basic earnings per share

weighted-average shares outstanding 275 274 27.2
Assumed exercise of potential common shares 30 25 e
Denominator for diluted earnings per share 30.5 29.9 27.2

Advertising Expense:

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred. Advertising expenses of $0.4 million, $0.3 million and
$0.7 million, were included in selling, general and administrative expenses for the years ended June 30,
2004, 2003 and 2002 respectively.

Shipping and handling costs:

Shipping and handling costs are included as a component of selling, general, & administrative
expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. In fiscal years 2004, 2003, and 2002 shipping and
handling costs approximated $0.7 million, $0.4 million, and $0.5 million, respectively.

Fixed Assets:

Furniture and equipment are depreciated principally using the straight-line method over eight years.
Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over either the term of the lease
or the estimated useful life of the improvement, whichever period is shorter. Computer hardware and
software is depreciated using the straight-line method over three to five years.

Other Assets:

Other assets primarily consist of security deposits for real estate leases.

Foreign Currency Transactions:

The Company negotiates substantially all of its purchase orders with foreign manufacturers in United
States dollars. The Company considers the United States dollar to be the functional currency of its
overseas subsidiaries. All foreign currency gains and losses are recorded in the Consolidated Statement
of Operations.
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Fair Value of Financial Instrume‘\nts:

For financial instruments, 1nc1ud1ng accounts receivable, accounts payable, revolving credit borrow-
ings and term loans, the carrylng amounts approximated fair value due to their short-term maturity or
variable interest rate.

\
\
Deferred Rent Obligations: ‘\‘

The Company accounts for 1rent expense under noncancelable operating leases with scheduled rent

increases on a straight-line busi‘s over the lease term. The excess of straight-line rent expense over
scheduled payment amounts is recorded as a deferred liability. Deferred rent obligations amounted to $0.5
million at June 30, 2004 and 2()0;’;.

Other Comprehensive Income Loss):

|

Other comprehensive income (loss) is reflected in the consolidated statements of stockholders’
equity. Other comprehensive income reflects adjustments for minimum pension liability.

Reclassifications:

|

Certain reclassifications havc}a been made to conform to the current period presentation.
|
|

Segment Reporting:

|

SFAS No. 131, Disclosures‘; about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information requires
enterprises to report certain information about products and services, activities in different geographic
areas and reliance on major cus;tomers and to disclose certain segment information in their financial
statements. The basis for determining an enterprise’s operating segments is the manner in which financial
information is used internally by the enterprise’s chief operating decision maker. The Company has
determined that it operates in one segment, women’s career and casual sportswear. In addition, less than
1% of total revenue is derived lrom customers outside the United States. The majority of the Company’s
long-lived assets are located in the United States.

3. Inventories — net
June 30, June 30,
2004 2003
! (In thousands)

Raw materials } $1,275 $ 698
Work-in-process 283 140
Finished goods 7,885 10,597
Inventory reserves ‘ ~(770) (739)
Total $8,673 $10,696

\

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, using the first-in first-out (FIFO) method, or market.
Included in inventories is mercllandlse in transit of approximately $5.2 million at June 30, 2004 and $8.9
million at June 30, 2003. \

4. Fixed Assets

|
|
|
| 2004 2003
\

June 30, June 30,

i (In thousands)
Furniture, equipment, computer hardware and software $14,350 $13,388
Leasehold improvements | 10,494 10,025
| 24,844 23,413
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization 20,632 19,621
i $4212  § 3792
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5. Income Taxes
The following are the major components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes (In thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2004 2003 2002
Current:
Federal $72  $8  $(974)
State 150 337 30
$222 $425 $(944)
Deferred:
Federal $ 63 $ — $ —
State 18 — —

$303  $425  $(944)

Significant components of the Company’s net deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are as
follows:

June 30, June 30,
2004 2003

(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Net federal, state and local operating loss carryforwards $ 38,300 $ 40,700
Costs capitalized to inventory for tax purposes 400 600
Inventery valuation 400 200
Excess of book over tax depreciation 2,200 2,300
Sales allowances not currently deductible 700 650
Reserves and other items not currently deductible 800 850
42,800 45,300

Less: valuation allowance for deferred tax assets _(42,800) (45,300)
Net deferred tax asset $ — $ —
June 30, June 30,

2004 2003

) (In thousands)
Deferred tax liability:
Deferred tax liability related to indefinite lived intangibles ... .. $(81) $—

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method in accordance with
SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred income taxes reflect the future tax consequences
of differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their financial reporting amounts at
year-end. The Company periodically reviews its historical and projected taxable income and considers
available information and evidence to determine if it is more likely than not that a portion of the deferred
tax assets will be realized. A valuation allowance is established to reduce the deferred tax assets to the
amount that is more likely than not to be realized. As of June 30, 2004 and 2003, based upon its evaluation
of historical and projected results of operation and the current business environment, the Company
recorded a full valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets. In fiscal 2004, the valuation allowance was
reduced by $2.5 million to $42.8 million at June 30, 2004 from $45.3 million at June 30, 2003 to reflect the
utilization of NOL’s to offset taxes otherwise payable on current taxable income. If the Company
determines that it is more likely than not that a portion of the deferred tax assets will be realized in the
future, that portion of the valuation allowance will be reduced with a corresponding decrease in income
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tax expense. At such time that the valuation allowance is eliminated and the Company has operating
income, the Company will provide for income tax expense in its Statement of Operations at its estimated
effective tax rate. |-

The Company has provideé a deferred tax liability in the amount of $81,000 on the temporary
differences associated with its indefinite-lived intangibles. Under SFAS 142, the timing of the reversal of
this liability is indefinite and c.mnot be offset by the Company’s net operating loss carryforwards. The
Company’s indefinite lived mtanglbles are not amortized for book purposes. As the Company continues
to amortize these intangible assets for tax purposes, it will provide a deferred tax liability on the
temporary difference. The temporary difference will not reverse until such time as the assets are impaired
or sold. There were no sales or iinpairments during the year ended June 30, 2004.

At June 30, 2004, the Company has a federal net operating loss carryforward for income tax purposes
of approximately $93.0 million, which will expire between fiscal 2010 and 2023.

\

3 Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

i 2004 2003 2002
‘] (In thousands)

Expense (benefit) for federal income taxes at the statutory

rate of 35.0% | $1,193  $1,78  $(1,109)
State and local taxes net of federal benefit 207 219 —
Other 116 40 472
Effects of elimination of tux‘ 11ab111t1es no longer required — — (747)
Effects of unrecognized fe deral tax loss carryforwards — — 667
Effects of tax loss carryforwérds (1,213) (1,620) (227)
Provision (benefit) for incon\je taxes $ 303 § 425 § (944)

|

The income tax benefit in the‘ﬁscal year ended June 30, 2002 includes a benefit $0.2 million for refund
claims due to tax law changes and a benefit of $0.7 million related to the elimination of tax liabilities that
are no longer required.

6. Financing Agreements

On September 27, 2002, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a new three-year
financing agreement (the “Financing Agreement”) with The CIT Group/Commercial Services, Inc.
(“CIT”), to replace the Former| Financing Agreement discussed below. The Financing Agreement
provides the Company with a $50.5 million facility comprised of (i) a $40 million revolving line of credit
(the “Revolving Facility”) with {a $25 million sublimit for letters of credit, a $3 million seasonal
overadvance and certain other overadvances at the discretion of CIT, and (ii) a $10.5 million term loan
(the “Term Loan”). |

At the option of the Company, the Revolving Facility and the Term Loan each may bear interest
either at the JP Morgan Chase Bank Rate (“Prime Rate”) or the London Interbank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR?”). If the Company chooses the Prime Rate, the interest (i) on the Revolving Facility accrues
at a rate of ¥ of 1% above the Prlme Rate (ii) on the Term Loan accrues at a rate of 1% above the Prime
Rate.. If the Company choosesI_IBOR the interest (i) on the Revolving Facility accrues at a rate of 3%4%
above LIBOR (ii) on the Term Loan accrues at a rate of 3%% above Libor. From the inception of the
financing agreement through J une‘30 2004, the Company has elected the Prime Rate option. The interest

rate as of June 30, 2004 on the Rc‘svolvmg Facility was 4.50% and on the Term Loan was 5.00%.
On September 27, 2002, the Company borrowed $18.3 million under the Revolving Facility and $10.5

million under the Term Loan. These borrowings were used to pay off the balances under the Former
Financing Agreement of $18.3 mllhon and the Former Term Loan of $10.5 million and for working capital
purposes. Commencing October 1‘ 2002, amortization payments in the amount of $375,000 increased to
$425,000 by the January 2004 amendment to the Financing Agreement described below are payable
quarterly in arrears in connection with the Term Loan. A balloon payment of $6.9 million is due on
September 27, 2005 under the ’Ierm Loan. The Company’s obligations under the Financing Agreement
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are secured by a first priority lien on substantially ail of the Company’s assets, including the Company’s
accounts receivable, inventory, intangibles, equipment, and trademarks, and a pledge of the Company’s
equity interest in its subsidiaries.

The Financing Agreement contains numerous financial and operational covenants, including
limitations on additional indebtedness, liens, dividends, stock repurchases and capital expenditures. In
addition, the Company is required to maintain (i) specified levels of tangible net worth, (ii) certain fixed
charge coverage ratios, (iii) certain leverage ratios, and (iv) specified levels of minimum borrowing
availability under the Revolving Facility. At June 30, 2004, the Company was in compliance with all of its
covenants. In the event of the early termination by the Company of the Financing Agreement, the
Financing Agreement provides that the Company will be liable for termination fees of (i) $350,000 if
termination occurs between the thirteenth and the twenty-fourth month from the closing date or, (i)
$150,000 if termination occurs after the twenty-fourth month from the closing date. The Company may
prepay at any.time, in whole or in part, the Term Loan without penalty. The Financing Agreement expires
on September 27, 2005. A fee of $125,000 was paid in connection with the new Financing Agreement.

On November 27, 2002, the Company and CIT agreed to an amendment to the Financing Agreement
in order to facilitate the S.L. Danielle acquisition discussed in Note 7. The Company and CIT agreed to
add the Company’s newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary, S.L. Danielle Acquisition, LLC (the
“Additional Borrower™), as a co-borrower under the Financing Agreement and related Factoring
Agreement. Accordingly, the Company and CIT (i) amended the Financing Agreement pursuant to a
joinder agreement, which also constitutes Amendment No. 1 to the Financing Agreement (the “Amended
Financing Agreement”) and (ii) entered into a new factoring agreement with the Additional Borrower,
to add the Additional Borrower as a co-borrower. The Company’s and the Additional Borrower’s
obligations under the Amended Financing Agreement are secured by a first priority lien on substantially
all of the Company’s and the Additional Borrower’s assets, including the Company’s and the Additional
Borrower’s accounts receivable, inventory, intangibles, equipment, and trademarks and a pledge of the
Company’s stock interest and membership interest in the Company’s subsidiaries, including the
Additional Borrower.

On January 30, 2004, the Company and CIT agreed to an amendment to the Financing Agreement
in order to facilitate the Cynthia Steffe acquisition discussed in Note 7. The Company and CIT agreed to
add the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Cynthia Steffe Acquisition, LLC (“CS Acquisition”) as a
co-borrower under the Financing Agreement and related Factoring Agreement. Accordingly, the
Company and CIT (i) amended the Financing Agreement pursuant to a joinder agreement, which also
constitutes Amendment No. 2 to the Financing Agreement (the “Second Amended Financing Agree-
ment”) and (ii) entered into a new factoring agreement with CS Acquisition, to add CS Acquisition as a
co-borrower. The obligations of the Company, S.L.. Danielle and CS Acquisition under the Second
Amended Financing Agreement are secured by a first priority lien on substantially all of the assets of the
Company, S.L.. Danielle and CS Acquisition, including their respective accounts receivables, inventory,
intangibles, equipment, and trademarks and a pledge of the Company’s stock interest and membership
interest in the Company’s subsidiaries. The Second Amended Financing Agreement also provided, among
other things for (i) an increase in the amount of the Term Loan by $1.2 million to cover a portion of the
purchase price of the Cynthia Steffe assets which had initially been paid for through revolving credit
borrowings under the Revolving Facility; (ii) an increase in the quarterly amortization payments on the
Term Loan from $375,000 to $425,000; and (iii) the amendment of certain financial covenants for fiscal
2004 (including the fixed charge coverage ratio and the minimum borrowing availability covenants) to
provide for the Cynthia Steffe operations and to be consistent with the Company’s latest business plan for
fiscal 2004.

On September 15, 2004 the Company and CIT agreed to further amend the Financing Agreement to
modify the financial covenants to be consistent with the Company’s latest business plan for fiscal 2005.

On June 30, 2004, the Company had $8.0 million of outstanding letters of credit under the Revolving
Facility, total availability of approximately $11.6 million under the Amended Financing Agreement, a
balance of $9.0 million on the Term Loan and $8.6 million in revolving credit borrowings. At June 30,
2003, the Company had $11.6 million of outstanding letters of credit, total availability of approximately
$10.7 million, a balance of $9.4 million on the Term Loan and no revolving credit borrowings.

F-14




¥

Factoring Agreement 1

|
On September 27, 2002 the Company also entered into a factoring agreement with CIT (the
“Factoring Agreement”). The Factoring Agreement provided for a factoring commission equal to 4/10 of
1% of the gross face amount of all accounts factored by CIT, plus certain customary charges. The
minimum factoring commission fee per year was $500,000. The Factoring Agreement provided that it
would be terminated after elgh‘teen months if there were no event of default under the Factoring
Agreement at such time. Once terminated, the Company is required to pay to CIT a collateral

management fee equal to $5, O('O‘a month.

Effective March 31, 2004, the Company, S.L. Danielle and CIT agreed to terminate the Factoring
Agreements between them. Pursuant to the terms of the original agreement, the Company is now
obligated to pay to CIT a collateral management fee of $5,000 a month. Receivables related to sales of
Cynthia Steffe product lines contmue to be factored. In connection with the termination of those
Factoring Agreements, CS Acqu1s1t10n and CIT entered into an amendment of their Factoring
Agreement which provides for a factoring commission equal to 6/10 of 1% of the gross face amount of all
accounts factored by CIT up to $10 million ratably declining to a commission between .55% and .45% of
the gross amount of the receivables in excess of $10 million. The amended Factoring agreement between
CS Acquisition and CIT has a term of twelve months.

|
|
Prior Financing Agreement i

\

|
Until September 27, 2002, the Company had a financing agreement with BNY Financial Corporation,
a wholly owned subsidiary of (General Motors Acceptance Corp. (“GMAC”) (the “Former Financing
Agreement”). The Former Fin,an:cing Agreement consisted of two facilities: (i) the Former Revolving
Facility which was a $45.5 million five-year revolving credit line (subject to an.asset based borrowing
formula) with a $34.0 million sublimit for letters of credit, and (ii) the Former Term Loan which was a
$14.5 million term loan facility. | Each facility had been amended to extend the maturity date until April 1,

2003. \

Interest on the Former Revolving Facility accrued at the greater of (i) 6% or (ii) % of 1% above the
Prime Rate (6.0% at June 30, 2002) and was payable on a monthly basis, in arrears. Interest on the Former
Term Loan accrued at an interest rate equal to the greater of (i) 6.0% or (ii) a rate ranging from % of 1%
above the Prime Rate to 1%% ub‘ove’ the Prime Rate, which interest rate was determined, from time to
time, based upon the Company’*: afvailability under the Revolving Facility. The interest rate on the Former
Term Loan was 6.0% at June 30, 2002.

7. Acquisitions |

|

A. S.L. Danielle Acquisition ;

On November 27, 2002, S.L. ]banielle Acquisition, LLC (“S.L. Danielle”), a newly formed subsidiary

of the Company acquired certain assets of S.L.. Danielle Inc. The results of S.L. Danielle’s operations have

been included in the consolidated financial statements since that date. S.L. Danielle designs, arranges for
the manufacture of, markets and sells a women’s apparel line, principally under private labels.

" The aggregate purchase price! was approximately $5.1 million, including cash of $4.4 million, 100,000
shares of common stock of the Company (“Common Stock™) valued at $84,000 and stock options to
purchase 500,000 shares of Coramon Stock valued at $384,000 and transaction costs of approximately
$250,000. The acquisition was funded by CIT through revolving credit borrowings of $4.6 million. The
value of the 100,000 shares of Common Stock was determined based on the average market price of the
Common Stock over the 3-day perlod before and after the date of the acquisition. The 500,000 stock
options were granted at the fair market value on the date of the acquisition and were valued using the
Black Scholes option pricing model The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed at the da te of acquisition.
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At November 27, 2002
(In thousands)

Current assets $3,609
Property, plant, and equipment 36
Intangible assets - 90
Goodwill 1,437

Total assets acquired $5,172

B. Cynthia Steffe Acquisition

On January 2, 2004, Cynthia Steffe Acquisition, LLC (“CS Acquisition™), a newly formed subsidiary
of the Company acquired certain assets of the Cynthia Steffe division of LF Brands Marketing, Inc.,
including inventory and showroom fixtures. The Company also acquired the Cynthia Steffe trademarks
from Cynthia Steffe for consideration equal to $1.0 million under a separate agreement. The Cynthia
Steffe business designs, arranges for the manufacture of, markets and sells a women’s apparel line, under
the Cynthia Steffe trademarks. As a result of the acquisition, the Company expects to increase its sales
volume through the sale of Cynthia Steffe product lines. The results of Cynthia Steffe’s operations have
been included in the consolidated financial statements commencing January 2, 2004. The aggregate
purchase price was approximately $2.2 million, plus the payment of $0.5 million in satisfaction of certain
liabilities, plus transaction fees and related acquisition costs of $0.2 million. The acquisition was initially
funded out of borrowings under the Revolving Facility of which $1.2 million was subsequently rolled into
the Term Loan.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the net assets acquired at the date of acquisition.

At January 2, 2004

(in thousands)

Inventory $ 578
Property, plant, and equipment 458
Intangible assets 1,062
Goodwill 820

Total assets acquired $2,918
Current liabilities (457)

Net assets acquired $2.461

Intangible assets include i) $1.0 million related to the Cynthia Steffe trademark, which was
determined to be an indefinite lived intangible asset and thus not subject to amortization, and ii) $62,000
related to the sales order backlog which was amortized over the sales period of four months.

The following unaudited pro forma information presents financial information of the Company as
though the acquisitions had been completed as of the beginning of the periods set forth below.

For the Year Ended

June 30, June 30,
2004 2003
(Unaudited)
(In thousands except per share amounts)
Net revenue $162,796 $158,344
Net income 3,232 4,350
Basic income per share $ 012 $ o016
Diluted income per share $ on $ 015
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8. Trademarks And Goodwill |
<

Intangible assets were as follows:
|

l 630104 6130103

Indefinite lived intanéiblc assets:
Trademarks ; $1,000

|
The Company owns the Cynthia Steffe and related trademarks, therefore they are classified as
indefinite lived intangibles at June 30, 2004 and not amortized.

I7
|

The following table summariizes trademarks and goodwill:
\

| Trademarks Goodwill
Balance at July 1, 200“2 $§ — $ —
Acquisition of S L Danielle — 1,395
Balance at June 30, 2003 — 1,395
Adjustment of previously allocated purchase price
related to acquisition of S L Danielle — 42
Acquisition of Cynthia Steffe 1,000 820
$1000 52257

Balance at June 30, 2@)04

|

i

9. Employee Benefit Plans

|
Pension Plan: ;
|
Pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement, the Company’s union employees are eligible to
participate in the Company’s defined benefit pension plan after completion of one year of eligible service.
Pension benefits are based on the\number of years of service times a predetermined factor. The Company
uses June 30, 2004 as its measurement date for the pension plan.

Pension expense amountec. tio approximately $123,000, $81,000, and $50,000 in fiscal 2004, 2003, and
2002, respectively. |




Obligations and Funded Status

The reconciliation of the benefit obligation and funded status of the pension plan as of June 30, 2004
and 2003 is as follows: '

2004 2003
(in thousands)

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $1,375 $1,049
Service cost 71 58
Interest cost 78 72
Change in assumption (discount rate) (146) 220
Actuarial loss/(gain) 9 5
Benefits paid (39 (29
Benefit obligation at end of year $1,348 $1,375
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 774 $ 779
Actual return/(loss) on plan assets 82 27
Employer contributions 41 —
Benefits paid (39) (29)
Expenses paid I C) )
Fair value of plan assets at end of year § 855 $ 774
Funded status $ (493) $ (601)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain) 305 494
Net amount recognized $ (188) $ (107)
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position

consist of:
Accrued benefit cost $ (493) $ (601)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 305 494
Net amount recognized $ (188) $ (107)

The accumulated benefit obligation for the pension plan was $1,348,000 and $1,375,000 at June 30,
2004 and 2003, respectively.

(In thousands) June 30, 2004 June 30, 2003
Projected benefit obligation $1,348 $1,375
Accumulated benefit obligation $1.348 $1,375
Fair value of plan assets $ 855 $ 774
Fiscal Year

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost:

Service cost $ 7 $ 58 $ 59
Interest cost 78 72 67
Expected return on plan assets (67) (64) (76)
Amortization of accumulated unrecognized net loss / (gain) 4 _15 —
Net periodic benefit cost $123 $81 $ 50
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Additional Information

Increase (decrease) in minﬁmum liability included in other comprehensive (income) loss was
($189,000), $252,000 and $242,000 for the years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

. |
Assumptions |
|
Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for
the years ended June 30 | 2004 2003 2002
Discount Rate ‘ 650% 575%  1.00%
Expected Long Term Rate of Return on plan assets 850% 8.50%  8.50%

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets was determined based on long-term return
analysis for equity, debt and other securities as well as historical returns. Long-term trends are evaluated
relative to market factors such as inflation and interest rates.

Plan Assets ‘1
The Company’s pension plan weighted-average asset allocations at June 30, 2004 and 2003, by asset

category are as follows:

100% 100%

‘ Plan Assets Plan Assets

i at June 30 at June 30
Asset Category | 2004 2003
Equity securities ‘ 60% 62%
Debt securities i 32% 32%
Other | _ 8% _6%
Total |

|

|

The Company’s investment strategy for the pension plan is to invest in a diversified portfolio of assets
managed by an outside portfolio manager. The Company’s goal is to provide for steady growth in the
pension plan assets, exceeding the Company’s expected return on plan assets of 8.5%. The portfolio is
balanced to maintain the Company’s targeted allocation percentage by type of investment. See table
below. Investments are made by the portfolio manager based upon guidelines of the Company.

The parameters maintained by the portfolio manager are as follows:

Percentage of Asset
Total Portfolio Category
5-15% Cash and short term investments
25-35% Long-term fixed income
50-65% Common stock
Cash Flows |
Contributions

The Company expects to contribute $88,000 to the pension plan in fiscal 2005.
|

|
|
i
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid (In thousands):

Fiscal Pension
Year Benefits
2005 $ 46
2006 53
2007 59
2008 : 66
2009 75
2010-2014 535

Savings Plan;

The Company has a savings plan (the “Savings Plan”) under which eligible employees may contribute
a percentage of their compensation and the Company (subject to certain limitations) as of January 2003
contributes 10% of the employee’s contribution. From February 2002 to January 2003 there was no
employer matching contribution. Prior to February 2002 the Company matched 50% of the employee’s
contribution. The Company contributions are invested in investment funds selected by the participants
and are subject to vesting provisions of the Savings Plan. Expense under the Savings Plan was
approximately $68,000 in fiscal 2004, $15,000 in fiscal 2003 and $200,000 in fiscal 2002.

10. Stock Based Compensation:

The Company has a Stock Option Plan (the “Option Plan”). Pursuant to the Option Plan, the
Company may grant to eligible individuals incentive stock options, as defined in the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, and non-incentive stock options. Under the Option Plan, 6,750,000 shares of Common
Stock are reserved for issuance. The maximum number of Shares that any one Eligible Individual may be
granted in respect of options may not exceed 4,000,000 shares of Common Stock. No stock options may
be granted subsequent to October 29, 2007. The exercise price may not be less than 100% of the fair
market value on the date of grant for incentive stock options. '

On January 10, 2001, the Company entered into an employment agreement (the “Agreement”) with
Nicholas DiPaolo, who has been serving as the Company’s Vice Chairman and Chief Operating Officer
since November 1, 2000, the effective date of the Agreement. The Agreement had an initial term ending
November 30, 2003, which was subsequently extended by an amendment to the agreement until June 30,
2005. Under the Agreement on November 1, 2000, Mr. DiPaolo was granted 300,000 fully vested options
to purchase Common Stock at the fair market value on the date of grant (the “Sign-On Options”). Under
the Agreement on January 10, 2001, Mr. DiPaolo was granted 3,000,000 options to purchase Common
Stock of the Company at the fair market value on the date of the grant (the “Put Options”). The exercise
price of the Put Options is $0.375. The Put Options vest in three equal annual installments upon each of
the first two anniversaries of the Agreement’s effective date and November 1, 2003, respectively. In the
event that the Company achieved a cumulative earnings before income taxes, depreciation and
amortization (“EBITDA”) target determined by the Company’s Board of Directors for the three year
period ended June 30, 2003, Mr. DiPaolo would have been entitled to require the Company to purchase
his Put Options, for a purchase price equal to $1,125,000, (i.e., the aggregate exercise price of the Put
Options). The Company did not meet the cumulative EBITDA target therefore the company is not
required to purchase the Put Options. In the event, however, there is a “Change of Control” of the
Company or his employment is terminated without “Cause” (as such terms are defined in the
Agreement), Mr. DiPaolo shall also have the right to require the Company to purchase his vested Put
Options at a purchase price equal to the aggregate exercise price of the vested Put Options.

During February 2001, employee and director options for an aggregate of 1,400,401 shares of the
Company’s common stock were surrendered under a stock option replacement program offered by the
Company. Under the program, employees had the right to surrender their outstanding, out-of-the- money

F-20




options in exchange for a comméitrhent by the Company to grant new options to them for the same number
of shares on a date, which is in 2xcess of six months (183 days) after the surrender date. To be eligible to
receive the new options, which héve an exercise price equal to the fair market value on the future grant
date (August 8, 2001), employces (or directors as the case may be) must have been employed by the
Company (or to serve as directcrs) on such grant date. On August 8, 2001, 1,400,401 options were granted
to employees and directors und;er this program. The new options vested in increments of 50% on
August 8, 2002 and 50% on August 8, 2003.

Information regarding the Cbmpany’s stock options is summarized below:

Stock Options

|

Weighted

} Average

I Number Exercise Exercise

i of Shares Price Range Price
Outstanding at June 30, 2001 3,340,000 $ .38 - $3.50 $.41
Options granted 1,920,401 $.50-8% .50 $.50
Options canceled (29,417) $ .50 - $3.11 $.94
Outstanding at June 30, 2002 5,230,984 $ .38 - $3.50 $.44
Options granted i 910,000 $.75-% .84 $.80
Options exercised | (6,100) $.50-$.50 $.50
Options canceled (15,290) $.50-%.50 $.75

1
Outstanding at June 30, 2003 i 6,119,594 $ .38 - $3.50 $.49
Options granted 1 690,000 $.94-81.12 $.97
Options exercised | {(595,001) $ .86 - $1.42 $.50
Options canceled \ (227.766) $.50-8% .84 $.58

\
Outstanding at June 30, 2004 } 5,986,827 $ .38 - $3.50 $.55

The following table summarizes information about the Company’s outstanding and exercisable stock

options at June 30, 2004:

i Outstanding Exercisable

‘ Weighted- . .

i Average  Weighted- Weighted-

1 Remaining  Average Average

| Contractual  Exercise Exercise
Range of Exercise Price ; Shares Life (Yrs.) Price Shares Price
$0.38 | 3,000,000 134 $0.38 3,000,000 § .38
$0.50 | 1,421,827 5.89 $0.50 1,411,827 § .50
$0.69 | 10,000 6.00 $0.69 7,500 $ .69
$0.75 340,000 8.16 $0.75 85000 §$ .75
$0.84 } 500,000 341 $0.84 250,000 $ .84
$0.94 i 560,000 9.51 $0.94 105,000 § .94
$0.98 : 30,000 9.00 $0.98 0 §$.00
$1.12 100,000 9.39 $1.12 0 §$ .00
$3.00 10,000 5.00 $3.00 10,000  $3.00
$3.11 ; 10,000 3.65 $3.11 10,000  $3.11
$3.50 ‘ 5,000 4.00 $3.50 5,000 $3.50

| 5986827 394  $0.55 4884327 $0.47

|
All stock options are granted at fair market value of the Common Stock at grant date. The
outstanding stock options have z weighted average contractual life of 3.94 years, 4.75 years, and 5.45 years
in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. The number of stock options exercisable at June 30, 2004, 2003, and

2002 were 4,884,327, 3,180,916, aqd 1,321,250, respectively.

|
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11. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

For the Year Ended
June 30, 2004 June 30, 2003

Minimum Pension Liability $(305) $(494)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss $(305) $(494)

12. Commitments, Contingencies and Other Matters

Lease Obligations:

The Company leases showroom, distribution and office facilities, and equipment under various
noncancellable operating lease agreements which expire through 2014. Rental expense for the years
ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was approximately $2.7 million, $2.6 million and $2.6 million,
respectively.

The minimum aggregate rental commitments at June 30, 2003 are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal year ending:

2000, o e e $ 3,085
2006, . .o e e e e 2,280
2007, e e e e e e e 1,509
2008, . e 1,477
2000, . e e e e 1,385
Subsequent to 2010 .. ... ... e 1,392

$11,128

Letters of Credit:

The Company was contingently liable under letters of credit issued by banks to cover primarily
contractual commitments for merchandise purchases of approximately $7.8 million and $11.6 million at
June 30, 2004 and June 30, 2003, respectively.

Inventory purchase commitments:

The Company was contingently liable for contractual commitments for merchandise purchases of

approximately $10.7 million and $11.6 million at June 30, 2004 and June 30, 2003, respectively.
Litigation:

The Company is involved in legal proceedings from time to time arising out of the ordinary conduct
of its business. The Company believes that the outcome of these proceedings will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

F-22




|
13. Unaudited Quarterly Resultg of Operations
i

|
Unaudited quarterly financial information for fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 is set forth in the table below:

|
|
1 (In thousands, except per share amounts)
|

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Fiscal 2004 ‘
Net revenue . $38,805 $34,566 $43,713 $40,023
Gross profit 9,210 8,017 11,691 10,738
Net income (loss) 1,010 (191) 1,804 481
Basic earnings (loss) per share 0.04 (0.01) 0.07 0.02
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 0.03 (0.01) 0.06 0.02
Fiscal 2003
Net revenue \ $34,791 $30,879 $40,893 $33,572
Gross profit 9,457 8,202 10,359 7,809
Net income 1,563 580 2,094 440
Basic earnings per share 0.06 0.02 0.08 0.02
Diluted earnings per share 0.05 0.02 0.07 0.01
The sum of the quarterly net| earnings per share amounts may not equal the full-year amount since
the computations of the weighted average number of common-equivalent shares outstanding for each
quarter and the full year are made independently.
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Description

Year ended June 30, 2004

Allowance for doubtful accoun:ts

BERNARD CHAUS, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(In thousands)

i .
Reserve for customer allowances and deductions

Year ended June 30, 2003

Allowance for doubtful accounts

i
i
1
\

Reserve for customer allowances and deductions

Year ended June 30, 2002
Allowance for doubtful

|
1

accoun

Reserve for customer allowances and deductions

Uncollectible accounts wriitejn off

SCHEDULE 11

Additions
Balance at Charged to
Beginning  Costs and Balance at
of Year Expenses  Deductions End of Year
$ 80 $ 180 §$ 67" $ 193
$ 835 §$5539 §54022 § 972
$ 30 §$ (2600 $ 0 § 80
$1,093 §$9352 $9610° § 835
$273 0§ 75 § 8 § 340
$1,074 $11,248  $11,229° $1,093

Allowances charged to rescrve and granted to customers
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